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Federal Summary 

 
City of Spokane 
Spokane County 

January 1, 2008 through December 31, 2008 
 
 
The results of our audit of the City of Spokane are summarized below in accordance with U.S. 
Office of Management and Budget Circular A-133. 
 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
An unqualified opinion was issued on the financial statements of the governmental activities, the 
business-type activities, each major fund and the aggregate remaining fund information. 
 
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting: 
 
 Significant Deficiencies:  We reported no deficiencies in the design or operation of 

internal control over financial reporting that we consider to be significant deficiencies. 
 
 Material Weaknesses:  We identified no significant deficiencies that we consider to be 

material weaknesses. 
 
We noted no instances of noncompliance that were material to the financial statements of the 
City. 
 
FEDERAL AWARDS 
 
Internal Control Over Major Programs: 
 
 Significant Deficiencies:  We identified deficiencies in the design or operation of 

internal control over major federal programs that we consider to be significant 
deficiencies. 

 
 Material Weaknesses:  We identified significant deficiencies that we consider to be 

material weaknesses. 
 
We issued an unqualified opinion on the City’s compliance with requirements applicable to its 
major federal programs, with the exception of the Community Development Block 
Grants/Entitlement Grants Program and Workforce Investment Act (WIA) Program on which we 
issued qualified opinions on compliance with applicable requirements. 
 
We reported findings that are required to be disclosed under OMB Circular A-133. 
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Identification of Major Programs: 
 
The following were major programs during the period under audit: 
 

CFDA No. Program Title 
 

14.218 CDBG – Entitlement and (HUD-Administered) Small Cities Cluster – 
Community Development Block Grants/Entitlement Grants 

14.235 Supportive Housing Program 
14.239 HOME Investment Partnerships Program 
14.900 Lead Based Paint Hazard Control 
17.258/259/260 Workforce Investment Act Cluster  

 
The dollar threshold used to distinguish between Type A and Type B programs, as prescribed 
by OMB Circular A-133, was $630,073. 
 
The City did not qualify as a low-risk auditee under OMB Circular A-133. 
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Schedule of Federal Audit Findings and 

Questioned Costs 

 
City of Spokane  
Spokane County  

January 1, 2008 through December 31, 2008 
 
 
1. The City did not comply with U.S. Department of Housing and Urban 

Development (HUD) grant requirements.  
 

CFDA Number and Title:  14.218 Community Development Block Grant 
14.235 Supportive Housing Program 
14.239 HOME Investment Partnership 
14.900 Lead-Based Paint Hazard Control 

Federal Grantor Name: U.S. Department of Housing and Urban 
Development 

Federal Award/Contract Number: Refer to Applicable Contract Numbers at the end of 
Finding No. 1. 

Pass-through Entity Name: NA 
Pass-through Award/Contract 
Number: 

 
NA 

Questioned Cost Amount: $0 
 

Description of Condition 
 
In 2008 the City spent the following amounts for its U.S. Department of Housing and 
Urban Development (HUD) programs: 
 

$6,382,898 Community Development Block Grant Program 
$1,710,280 HOME Investment Partnership Program 
$1,688,903 Supportive Housing Program 
$   544,354 Lead Based Paint Hazard Program.  

 
Our audit found the City did not have internal controls in place to ensure compliance with 
the following requirements:  
 
Cash Management and Program Income 
 
The City did not have internal controls designed to ensure program income was used to 
pay for or reduce program-related costs prior to seeking federal reimbursement for the 
Community Development Block Grant and HOME programs. The City received 
$1,726,726 in Community Development Block Grant program income and $220,428 in 
HOME program income in July 2007 through June 2008 that was not deducted from 
expenses in a timely manner.  During this period, the City frequently drew down 
additional federal funds without offsetting costs with earned program income.   
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Additionally, the City’s internal controls were not adequate to ensure interest earned 
from investing federal funds was properly accounted for or sent to HUD.  During the 
2008 program year, the City earned $727 in interest by investing the HOME grant cash 
balance, which included cash drawdowns made during the year but not spent.  The City 
reported these funds as program income to HUD rather than transferring the interest on 
advances.   
 
Further, internal controls were not adequate to ensure income earned within the 
Community Development Block Grant program was used in accordance with grant 
requirements. The City loaned $526,300 of Community Development Block Grant 
program income to its Lead-Based Paint Hazard federal program throughout 2008 to 
cover expenses.  These funds were periodically repaid to the Community Development 
Block Grant; however, this is an unallowable use of this program income. 
 
Matching 
 
Recipients of the Supportive Housing Grant are required to ensure an eligible cash 
match is contributed for support services and operating costs.  For the City’s grant, the 
match is primarily contributed by subrecipients.  We found the City did not review 
supporting documentation for program years that began prior to but were in process 
during 2008 to verify the match amounts reported by subrecipients were from an 
allowable source and that they were accurate and complete. 

 
Suspension and Debarment 
 
Federal grants recipients are required to ensure all subrecipients and any contractors 
paid in excess of $25,000 are not suspended or debarred from receiving federal funds. 
The City awarded three contracts to subrecipients totaling $350,683 in the HOME 
program, seven contracts to subrecipients totaling $56,386 and one vendor contract 
totaling $551,172 in the Community Development Block Grant program without obtaining 
the required suspension and debarment certifications or checking the status of these 
parties on the federal Excluded Parties Listing System prior to awarding the contracts.  
 
Additionally, the City awarded a $333,202 vendor contract in the Lead-Based Paint 
Hazard program and 23 contracts to subrecipients in the Supportive Housing program, 
totaling $1,567,114 without obtaining the required suspension and debarment 
certifications or checking the status of these parties on the Federal Excluded Parties List 
prior to awarding the contracts.  
 
Cause of Condition 
 
The City did not fully understand federal grant requirements or establish adequate 
internal controls to ensure compliance with program requirements.   
 
Effect of Condition 
 
Cash Management and Program Income 
 
The City did not take steps to reduce the time elapsing from the date they receive the 
federal funds and the date they use the funds to pay for program costs.  The amount 
requested from HUD was not net of program income earned resulting in the City 
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obtaining more federal funding than was necessary to meet the immediate program 
needs.  Interest was earned on the excess cash balances.  These interest earnings must 
be returned to the grantor.  The City calculated those amounts to be: 
 

 HOME Investment Partnership Program: $727 
 Community Development Block Grant Program: $5,037. 

 
The amounts were subsequently remitted to HUD. 
 
Matching 
 
Without verifying that match amounts provided by subrecipients are accurate and 
provided from allowable sources, the City cannot be sure it has met its overall matching 
requirement.  This can lead to repayment of any amounts for which the grantor has 
overpaid the City.  

 
Suspension and Debarment 
 
Failure to ensure subrecipients and contractors are authorized to participate in federal 
programs could result in repayment of grant funds to the granting agency and/or 
jeopardize future federal funding.  We verified the City did not award federal funds to 
suspended or debarred parties in the Community Development Block Grant, HOME 
program, Lead-Based Paint Hazard Grant and Supportive Housing Grant and will not 
question these costs. 

  
Recommendation 
 
Cash Management and Program Income 
 
We recommend the City establish and follow controls to ensure program income is used 
prior to submitting costs for reimbursement.   
 
Matching 
 
We recommend the City establish and follow internal controls to ensure the match 
amount provided by the subrecipient is from an allowable source and is supported by 
adequate documentation. 
 
Suspension and Debarment 
 
We recommend the City establish procedures to ensure compliance with suspension 
and debarment requirements. 
 
City’s Response 
 
The City is in the process of further refining our internal controls to ensure program 
income is used prior to submitting costs for reimbursement, to ensure that the match 
amount provided by the subrecipient is from an allowable source and is supported by 
adequate documentation, and to ensure compliance with suspension and debarment 
requirements.   
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As the auditor acknowledged in their report, they did not find any areas of questioned 
costs, or any evidence that grant funds were being used inappropriately. 
 
Auditor's Remarks 
 
We thank the City for its cooperation and assistance during the audit and acknowledge 
its commitment to improving the condition described.  We will review the status of this 
issue during our next audit 
 
Applicable Laws and Regulations 
 
U.S. Office of Management and Budget Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local 
Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations, Section 300, states in part: 

 
The auditee shall:   

  
(b) Maintain internal control over Federal programs that provides 
reasonable assurance that the auditee is managing Federal 
awards in compliance with laws, regulations, and provisions of 
contracts or grant agreements that could have a material effect on 
each of its Federal programs.  
  
(c)  Comply with laws, regulations, and the provisions of contracts 
or grant agreements related to each of its Federal programs. 

 
Title 24 Code of Federal Regulations, Section 85.24(b), states in part: 
 

(6) Records. Costs and third party in-kind contributions counting towards 
satisfying a cost sharing or matching requirement must be verifiable from 
the records of grantees and subgrantee or cost-type contractors. These 
records must show how the value placed on third party in-kind 
contributions was derived. To the extent feasible, volunteer services will 
be supported by the same methods that the organization uses to support 
the allocability of regular personnel costs. 

 
Title 2 Code of Federal Regulations, Section 180.220, states in part: 

   
(b) Specifically, a contract for goods or services is a covered transaction if 
any of the following applies: 

  
(1) The contract is awarded by a participant in a nonprocurement 
transaction that is covered under Sec. 180.210, and the amount of 
the contract is expected to equal or exceed $25,000 . . . . 

 
Title 2 Code of Federal Regulations, Section 180.300 states: 

  
When you enter into a covered transaction with another person at the 
next lower tier, you must verify that the person with whom you intend to 
do business is not excluded or disqualified. You do this by:  

 
(a) Checking the EPLS; or  
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(b) Collecting a certification from that person if allowed by this 
rule; or  
 
(c) Adding a clause or condition to the covered transaction with 
that person. 

 
Title 24 Code of Federal Regulations, Section 570.500 Definitions - Subpart J, Grant 
Administration, states in part: 
 

(2) Program income does not include income earned (except for interest 
described in Sec. 570.513) on grant advances from the U.S. Treasury. 
The following items of income earned on grant advances must be 
remitted to HUD for transmittal to the U.S. Treasury, and will not be 
reallocated under section 106(c) or (d) of the Act: 
     

(i) Interest earned from the investment of the initial proceeds of a 
grant advance by the U.S. Treasury; 
     
(ii) Interest earned on loans or other forms of assistance provided 
with CDBG funds that are used for activities determined by HUD 
either to be ineligible or to fail to meet a national objective in 
accordance with the requirements of subpart C of this part, or that 
fail substantially to meet any other requirement of this part; and 
     
(iii) Interest earned on the investment of amounts reimbursed to 
the CDBG program account prior to the use of the reimbursed 
funds for eligible purposes. 

 
Title 24 Code of Federal Regulations, Section 570.504 - Program income, states: 

 
(a) Recording program income. The receipt and expenditure of 
program income as defined in Sec.  570.500(a) shall be recorded 
as part of the financial transactions of the grant program. 
 
(b) Disposition of program income received by recipients. (1) 
Program income received before grant closeout may be retained 
by the recipient if the income is treated as additional CDBG funds 
subject to all applicable requirements governing the use of CDBG 
funds. (2) If the recipient chooses to retain program income, that 
program income shall be disposed of as follows: 

 
(i) Program income in the form of repayments to, or 
interest earned on, a revolving fund as defined in Sec.  
570.500(b) shall be substantially disbursed from the fund 
before additional cash withdrawals are made from the U.S. 
Treasury for the same activity. (This rule does not prevent 
a lump sum disbursement to finance the rehabilitation of 
privately owned properties as provided for in Sec.  
570.513.) 
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(ii) Substantially all other program income shall be 
disbursed for eligible activities before additional cash 
withdrawals are made from the U.S. Treasury. 

 
Title 24 Code of Federal Regulations, Section 92.502 - Program Disbursement and 
Information System, states in part: 
 

c. Disbursement of HOME funds. 
 

1. After complete project set-up information is entered into the 
disbursement and information system, HOME funds for the project 
may be drawn down from the United States Treasury account by 
the participating jurisdiction by electronic funds transfer. The funds 
will be deposited in the local account of the HOME Investment 
Trust Fund of the participating jurisdiction within 48 to 72 hours of 
the disbursement request. Any drawdown of HOME funds from 
the United States Treasury account is conditioned upon the 
provision of satisfactory information by the participating jurisdiction 
about the project or tenant-based rental assistance and 
compliance with other procedures, as specified by HUD. 
 
2. HOME funds drawn from the United States Treasury account 
must be expended for eligible costs within 15 days. Any interest 
earned within the 15 day period may be retained by the 
participating jurisdiction as HOME funds. Any funds that are drawn 
down and not expended for eligible costs within 15 days of the 
disbursement must be returned to HUD for deposit in the 
participating jurisdiction’s United States Treasury account of the 
HOME Investment Trust Fund. Interest earned after 15 days 
belongs to the United States and must be remitted promptly, but at 
least quarterly, to HUD, except that a local participating jurisdiction 
may retain interest amounts up to $100 per year for administrative 
expenses and States are subject to the Intergovernmental 
Cooperation Act (31 U.S.C. 6501 et seq.). 

 
3. HOME funds in the local account of the HOME Investment 
Trust Fund must be disbursed before requests are made for 
HOME funds in the United States Treasury account. 
 
4. A participating jurisdiction will be paid on an advance basis 
provided it complies with the requirements of this part. 
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Applicable Contract Numbers 
 

B06-MC-53-0006 
B07-MC-53-0006 
 
WA01B402024, WA01B502001, WA01B602001, WA01B602002, WA01B602003, 
WA01B602004,  
WA01B602005, WA01B602006, WA01B602007, WA01B602008, WA01B602009, 
WA01B602010,  
WA01B602011, WA01B602012, WA01B602013, WA01B602014, WA01B602015, 
WA01B602016,  
WA01B602017, WA01B602018, WA01B602019, WA01B602020, WA01B602021, 
WA01B702001, WA01B702002, WA01B702003, WA01B702004,  
WA01B702005, WA01B702006, WA01B702007, WA01B702008, WA01B702009, 
WA01B702010,  
WA01B702011, WA01B702012, WA01B702013, WA01B702014, WA01B702015, 
WA01B702016,  
WA01B702017, WA01B702018, WA01B702019, WA01B702020, WA01B702021, 
WA01B702022,  
WA01B702023  
 
M05-MC-53-0201 
M06-MC-53-0201 
 
WA LHB 0279-04 
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Schedule of Federal Audit Findings and 

Questioned Costs 

 
City of Spokane 
Spokane County 

January 1, 2008 through December 31, 2008 
 
 
2. The City did not have adequate controls over its federal Workforce 

Investment Act grants. 
 
CFDA Number and Title: 17.258/259/260 Workforce Investment Act 

Cluster 
Federal Grantor Name: U.S. Department of Labor 
Federal Award/Contract Number: NA 
Pass-through Entity Name: Employment Security Department 
Pass-through Award/Contract 
Number: 

6112-7108, 6112-7107, 6112-1108, 6112-7307, 
6112-1308, 6112-1307, 6112-7308, 6112-7007, 
6112-7008, 6112-7207, 6112-1208, 6112-7208 

Questioned Cost Amount: $373,257 
 
Description of Condition 
 
During 2008, the City spent the following in Workforce Investment Act (WIA) grant 
money: 
 

$ 1,461,951 Adult Program 
$ 1,181,171 Youth Activities 
$ 1,038,749 Dislocated Workers 

 
Allowable Costs/Cost Principles 
 
Federal regulations require payroll costs charged to grants to be supported by time and 
effort records.  Depending on the number of activities employees work on, time and 
effort documentation can be provided in the form of semiannual certifications or monthly 
personnel activity reports, such as timesheets.  Further, should payroll costs be charged 
to federal grants using an estimate or budget, the estimated cost must be reconciled 
quarterly to the actual amounts reflected on the time and effort records to ensure the 
charges are accurate. 
 
These programs were charged for estimated salaries and benefits.  Employees were not 
required to track actual time spent on different cost objectives.  As a result, the City 
could not perform reconciliation or ensure estimates were accurate.   
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Cash Management 
 
The City’s internal controls were not adequate to ensure cash drawdowns were limited to 
immediate cash needs and that cash was not held for an unreasonable amount of time.  
Amounts claimed for administrative expenditures on each drawdown were estimated, 
resulting in drawdowns that were in excess of actual expenditures.  Subsequent 
drawdowns were not adjusted to use cash on hand prior to requesting more funds.  The 
excess cash balance at December 31, 2008, for each of the programs was: 
 

$ 71,206 Adult Program 
$ 66,377 Youth Activities 
$ 45,624 Dislocated Workers 
$19,999 Administrative Cost Pool 

 
Additionally, the City’s internal controls were not adequate to ensure interest earned 
from investing federal funds was properly accounted for or sent back to the grantor.  
During 2008, the City earned $7,535 in interest by investing the cash balance of each 
grant, which included cash drawdowns made during the year but not spent.  The cash 
balance was invested as treasurer’s cash nightly during the period and interest earned 
was deposited into the City’s general fund. 
 
Subrecipient Monitoring 
 
We reviewed all reimbursement requests made by three subrecipients during 2008.  We 
found the City was not adequately monitoring whether subrecipients were spending 
grant funds for allowable purposes and whether the expenditures were within the period 
of availability. The subrecipient reimbursement requests contained no detailed 
expenditure reports or vendor invoices for goods and services, travel claims or payroll 
information.  In lieu of asking for this level of detail with the reimbursement requests, the 
City could have visited the subrecipients on site to review their fiscal records, but the 
City did not fully perform this alternate monitoring.  
 
Cause of Condition 
 
The City did not fully understand federal grant requirements or establish controls and 
monitoring to ensure it complied with program requirements. 

 
Effect of Condition  
 
Allowable Costs/Cost Principles 
 
The City cannot be assured that grants are charged only for the time spent working on 
the program without adequate time and effort records.  The City charged the following 
amounts to each of the programs for administrative expenses:   

 
$29,589 Adult Program 
$61,115 Youth Activities 
$34,909 Dislocated Workers 
$247,644 Administrative Cost Pool 

 
We are questioning these costs.    
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Cash Management 
 
Grantees should take steps to reduce the time elapsing from the date they receive 
federal funds and the date they use the funds to pay for program costs.  The amount 
requested from a federal agency should be limited to ensure that the City does not 
obtain more federal funding than was necessary to meet the immediate program needs.  
Interest earnings that exceed $100 per year from excess cash balances should be 
returned to the grantor. 
 
Subrecipient Monitoring 
 
The risk of subrecipients not following federal regulations or spending funds for 
unallowed purposes is increased when the City does not adequately monitor 
subrecipient spending activity.  
 
Recommendation 
 
Allowable Costs/Cost Principles 
 
We recommend the City improve internal controls and monitoring to ensure time and 
effort records are prepared for all employees charged to federal grants.  Further, the City 
should consult with the state about repayment of the questioned costs. 
 
Cash Management 
 
We recommend the City establish and follow internal controls to ensure amounts 
requested from a federal agency are limited to immediate program needs and a cash 
balance is not maintained.  Additionally, the City should compute the amount of interest 
earned on advance funds over the past five years and remit it to the grantor. 
 
Subrecipient Monitoring 
 
We recommend the City establish controls and monitoring to ensure compliance with 
subrecipient monitoring requirements. 
 
City’s Response 
 
The City will establish and comply with internal controls related to allowable costs, cash 
management and sub-recipient monitoring.  The City will also consult with the 
Washington State Employment Security Department to establish an approved cost 
allocation plan or begin time and effort documentation of employees being charged to 
federal grants.   
 
The City will also work with the grantor to remit any interest due on advanced funds, and 
to establish the appropriate documentation or remit funds for the administrative costs 
questioned in their report. 
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Auditor’s Remarks 
 
We thank the City for its cooperation and assistance during the audit and acknowledge 
its commitment to improving the condition described.  We will review the status of this 
issue during our next audit 

 
Applicable Laws and Regulations 
 
U.S. Office of Management and Budget Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local 
Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations, Section 300, states in part:   
 

The auditee shall:  
  
(b) Maintain internal control over Federal programs that provides 
reasonable assurance that the auditee is managing Federal 
awards in compliance with laws, regulations, and   
provisions of contracts or grant agreements that could have a 
material effect on each of its Federal programs.   
  
(c) Comply with laws, regulations, and the provisions of contracts 
or grant agreements related to each of its Federal programs. 

 
U.S. Office of Management and Budget Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local 
Governments, and Non-profit Organizations, states in part: 
 

Section 510  
  
(a) Audit findings reported. The auditor shall report the following 
as audit findings in a schedule of findings and questioned costs: 

 
(3) Known questioned costs which are greater than $10,000 for a 
type of compliance requirement for a major program. Known 
questioned costs are those specifically identified by the auditor. In 
evaluating the effect of questioned costs on the opinion on 
compliance, the auditor considers the best estimate of total costs 
questioned (likely questioned costs), not just the questioned costs 
specifically identified (known questioned costs). The auditor shall 
also report known questioned costs when likely questioned costs 
are greater than $10,000 for a type of compliance requirement for 
a major program.  
 

Section 400  
 

(d) Pass-through entity responsibilities. A pass-through entity shall 
perform the following for the Federal awards it makes: 
 

(1) Identify Federal awards made by informing each 
subrecipient of CFDA title and number, award name and 
number, award year, if the award is R&D, and name of 
Federal agency. When some of this information is not 
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available, the pass-through entity shall provide the best 
information available to describe the Federal award. 
 
(2) Advise subrecipients of requirements imposed on them 
by Federal laws, regulations, and the provisions of 
contracts or grant agreements as well as any supplemental 
requirements imposed by the pass-through entity.  

 
(3) Monitor the activities of subrecipients as necessary to 
ensure that Federal awards are used for authorized 
purposes in compliance with laws, regulations, and the 
provisions of contracts or grant agreements and that 
performance goals are achieved. 
 
(4) Ensure that subrecipients expending $300,000 
($500,000 for fiscal years ending after December 31, 2003) 
or more in Federal awards during the subrecipient's fiscal 
year have met the audit requirements of this part for that 
fiscal year. 
 
(5) Issue a management decision on audit findings within 
six months after receipt of the subrecipient's audit report 
and ensure that the subrecipient takes appropriate and 
timely corrective action. 
 
(6) Consider whether subrecipient audits necessitate 
adjustment of the pass-through entity's own records. 

 
U.S. Office of Management and Budget Circular A-87, Cost Principles for State, Local 
and Indian Tribal Governments, Attachment B, Section 8(h), states in part: 

 
(1) Charges to Federal awards for salaries and wages, whether treated as 
direct or indirect costs, will be based on payrolls documented in 
accordance with generally accepted practice of the governmental unit and 
approved by a responsible official(s) of the governmental unit.   
  
(2) No further documentation is required for the salaries and wages of 
employees who work in a single indirect cost activity.   
  
(3) Where employees are expected to work solely on a single Federal 
award or cost objective, charges for their salaries and wages will be 
supported by periodic certifications that the employees worked solely on 
that program for the period covered by the certification. These 
certifications will be prepared at least semi-annually and will be signed by 
the employee or supervisory official having first hand knowledge of the 
work performed by the employee. 
 
(4) Where employees work on multiple activities or cost objectives, a 
distribution of their salaries or wages will be supported by personnel 
activity reports or equivalent documentation which meets the standards in 
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subsection (5) unless a statistical sampling system (see subsection (6)) or 
other substitute system has been approved by the cognizant Federal 
agency.   
  
(5) Personnel activity reports or equivalent documentation must meet the 
following standards: 

 
(a) They must reflect an after-the-fact distribution of the actual 
activity of each employee,  
 
(b) They must account for the total activity, for which each 
employee is compensated,   
 
(c) They must be prepared at least monthly and must coincide 
with one or more pay periods, and   
 
(d) They must be signed by the employee.   
 
(e) Budget estimates or other distribution percentages determined 
before the services are performed do not qualify as support for 
charges to Federal awards but may be used for interim accounting 
purposes, provided that: 

 
(i) The governmental unit's system for establishing the 
estimates produces reasonable approximations of the 
activity actually performed;   
 
(ii) At least quarterly, comparisons of actual costs to 
budgeted distributions based on the monthly activity 
reports are made. Costs charged to Federal awards to 
reflect adjustments made as a result of the activity actually 
performed may be recorded annually if the quarterly 
comparisons show the differences between budgeted and 
actual costs are less than ten percent; and   
 
(iii) The budget estimates or other distribution percentages 
are revised at least quarterly, if necessary, to reflect 
changed circumstances. 

 
Title 29, Code of Federal Regulations, Section 97.21 – Payment, states in part: 
 

(a) Scope. This section prescribes the basic standard and the methods 
under which a Federal agency will make payments to grantees, and 
grantees will make payments to subgrantees and contractors. 
 
(b) Basic standard.  Methods and procedures for payment shall minimize 
the time elapsing between the transfer of funds and disbursement by the 
grantee or subgrantee, in accordance with Treasury regulations at 31 
CFR part 205 . . . 
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(i) Interest earned on advances…grantees and subgrantees shall 
promptly, but at least quarterly, remit interest earned on advances 
to the Federal agency. The grantee or subgrantee may keep 
interest amounts up to $100 per year for administrative expenses. 
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Schedule of Prior Federal Audit Findings 

 
City of Spokane 
Spokane County 

January 1, 2008 through December 31, 2008 
 
 
This schedule presents the status of federal findings reported in prior audit periods.  The status 
listed below is the representation of the City of Spokane.  The State Auditor’s Office has 
reviewed the status as presented by the City. 

 
Audit Period:   
2007 

Report Reference 
No:   
75383 

Finding Reference 
No:   
1 

CFDA Number(s): 
59.SBAHQ06I0031 

Federal Program Name and Granting 
Agency: 
Inland Northwest Regional GigaPop 
Connectivity Project – U.S. Small Business 
Administration 

Pass-Through Agency Name: 
NA 

Finding Caption:  
The City did not have adequate controls over its federal Inland Northwest Regional GigaPop 
Connectivity Project grant. 
Background:  
During 2007, the City spent $1,480,842 in federal grant funds for the Inland Northwest 
Regional GigaPop Project. The City sought and was awarded this grant to help bring network 
access and technologies on board to support regional research, academic organizations and 
economic development in the area.  Our audit found the City did not have internal controls in 
place to ensure compliance with the following requirements:  
 
Activities Allowed/Allowable Costs 
The City did not ensure costs charged to the grant were allowable and that items purchased 
were used for the project. The City paid invoices totaling $135,444 that did not describe what 
was purchased; no vendor follow-up or monitoring was done to determine this as well. During 
the audit, the City was able to provide supporting documentation for fiber-optic equipment 
purchases.   
 
Equipment  
The City did not ensure equipment purchased with federal funds was properly recorded in its 
fixed asset system as required by federal regulations. The City recorded the entire grant 
amount of $1,480,842 as a single fixed asset, rather than itemizing equipment. It also did not 
include serial numbers or descriptions for the equipment. 

 
Procurement 
The City did not ensure that proper procedures were followed when equipment was purchased 
with federal funds.  The purchasing of equipment was of the responsibility Pacific Northwest 
GigaPop, a nonprofit organization established at and operated by University of Washington.  
The City did not check with the organization to ensure it was using appropriate procurement 
procedures.  Purchases totaling $273,219 were made from one vendor for which no 

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
                                                                              Washington State Auditor's Office 
                                                                                                       17



 

 

competitive procurement procedures were followed or a justification for a sole source of supply 
was retained.   

 
Suspension and Debarment 
Federal grant recipients are required to ensure all subrecipients and any contractors paid in 
excess of $25,000 are not suspended or debarred from receiving federal funds.  The City did 
not ensure Pacific Northwest GigaPop or any vendors used by the group were not suspended 
or debarred.  Four contracts totaling $1,470,478 were awarded without obtaining the required 
suspension and debarment certification or otherwise checking the status of these parties on 
the federal Excluded Parties Listing System prior to awarding the contracts.  We checked the 
status during our audit and found the vendors had not been suspended or debarred.  As a 
result, we are not questioning these costs. 
Status of Corrective Action: (check one) 

Fully 
Corrected 

 Partially 
Corrected 

X No Corrective Action 
Taken 

 Finding is considered no 
longer valid 

Corrective Action Taken: 
The Inland Northwest Regional GigaPop Connectivity Project grant was fully expended in 
2007, so no activity happened on this grant in 2008.  The City has communicated with, and 
trained staff for proper compliance with the issues contained in this finding, including allowable 
costs, record keeping for capital assets acquired with federal funds, proper procurement 
procedures, and suspension and debarment.  City staff has also been made aware that federal 
grant requirements are the responsibility of the grantee (in this case, the City), and cannot be 
delegated to another agency. 
 
The capital assets acquired with these grant funds have been transferred to another 
Washington state agency in 2009, with the permission of the grant administrator, so the City’s 
responsibility for ongoing tracking of these assets has been eliminated. 

 
Audit Period:   
2007 

Report Reference 
No:   
75383 

Finding Reference 
No:   
2 

CFDA Number(s): 
14.218, 14.239, 
14.235 and 14.900 

Federal Program Name and Granting 
Agency: 
Community Development Block Grant, 
HOME Investment Partnerships Program, 
Supportive Housing, Lead Based Paint 
Hazard Program – U.S. 
Department of Housing and Urban 
Development 

Pass-Through Agency Name: 
NA 

Finding Caption:  
The City did not comply with requirements of its U.S. Department of Housing and Urban 
Development (HUD) grant programs. 
Background:  
In 2007, the City spent the following amounts for its HUD programs: 
 

$6,991,185 Community Development Block Grant program 
$1,511,733 HOME Investment Partnership program 
$1,796,101 Supportive Housing Program 
$   780,496 Lead Based Paint Hazard Program.  
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Our audit found the City did not have internal controls in place to ensure compliance with the 
following requirements:  
 
Allowable Costs/Cost Principles 
Payroll costs are allocated to each grant based on a percentage of total program expenditures 
for the Community Development Block Grant, HOME Grant and the Lead Based Paint Hazard 
Program.  While this method of allocation was approved by HUD, we found the City had no 
effective means of monitoring the process to ensure payroll costs were appropriately charged 
to each of the programs. No secondary review of the allocation calculations is done by City 
staff.  
 
Cash Management and Program Income 
Internal controls were not adequate to ensure program income was used to pay for, or reduce, 
program-related costs prior to seeking federal reimbursement for the Community Development 
Block Grant and HOME programs.  The City earned program income from repayment of 
Housing Rehabilitation and Economic Development and HOME loans.  The City received 
program income of $2,789,959 in Community Development Block Grant and $349,273 in 
HOME for July 2006 to June 2007 that was not deducted from expenses in a timely manner.  
During this period, the City frequently drew down additional federal funds without offsetting 
costs with earned program income.   
 
Additionally, the City’s internal controls were not adequate to ensure interest earned from 
investing federal funds was properly accounted for or sent to HUD.  During the 2007 program 
year, the City earned $4,647 in interest by investing the HOME grant cash balance which 
included cash draw downs made during the year but not spent.  The City reported these funds 
as program income to HUD rather than transferring the interest on advances.   
 
Further, internal controls were not adequate to ensure program income earned within the 
Community Development Block Grant program was used in accordance with program 
requirements.  The City loaned approximately $780,496 of Community Development Block 
Grant program income to its Lead Based Paint Hazard federal program throughout 2007 to 
cover expenses. These funds were periodically re-paid to Community Development Block 
Grant; however, this is an unallowable use of Community Development Block Grant program 
income. 
 
Matching 
Recipients of the Supportive Housing Grant are required to ensure an eligible cash match is 
contributed for support services and operating costs. For the City’s grant, the match is primarily 
contributed by subrecipients.  We found the City did not obtain or review supporting 
documentation to verify the match amounts reported by subrecipients were from an allowable 
source and was accurate and complete. 

 
Suspension and Debarment 
Federal grants recipients are required to ensure subrecipients and any contractors paid in 
excess of $25,000 are not suspended or debarred from receiving federal funds. The City 
awarded 56 contracts to subrecipients totaling $475,086 and two vendor contracts totaling 
$662,104 in the Community Development Block Grant program without obtaining the required 
suspension and debarment certifications or checking the status of these parties on the federal 
Excluded Parties Listing System prior to awarding the contracts.  
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Additionally, the City awarded two contracts in the Lead Based Paint Hazard program totaling 
$674,973 without obtaining the required suspension and debarment certifications or checking 
the status of these parties on the federal Excluded Parties List prior to awarding the contracts.  
 
Reporting 
Federal Cash Transaction Reports must be completed and submitted to HUD quarterly for the 
Community Development Block Grant.  Monitoring was not adequate to ensure these reports 
were completed, included accurate information and were remitted to HUD as required.   
 
Subrecipient Monitoring 
The City distributed $1,615,701 in program funds to subrecipients within the Supportive 
Housing program in 2007.  Federal Office of Management and Budget Circular A-133 requires 
the City to obtain audit reports from any subrecipient that spends $500,000 or more in federal 
funds.  In 2007, the City had at least five subrecipients in this program that did so. The City did 
not monitor whether subrecipients met audit requirements or ensure the required audits were 
completed within nine months of the end of the subrecipient's audit period. 
 
Additionally, the City did not monitor whether audit reports were received for subrecipients in 
Community Development Block Grant and HOME programs.  We found one of the reports for a 
subrecipient in HOME could not be located and another for a subrecipient in Community 
Development Block Grant noted issues related to the program that had not been followed up 
on. 
Status of Corrective Action: (check one) 

 Fully 
Corrected 

X Partially 
Corrected 

 No Corrective Action 
Taken 

 Finding is considered no 
longer valid 

Corrective Action Taken: 
Allowable Cost/Cost Principles (Fully Corrected): 
An acceptable and approved method has been used by the Community Development 
accountant to accurately allocate Department payroll costs across the appropriate grants.  
However, no secondary reviews of the allocation calculations were made by other Community 
Development or City staff prior to 2008.  In 2008, this secondary review was done.  
 
Cash Management and Program Income (Partially Corrected): 
In both HOME and a CDBG Housing Revolving Loan Fund (RLF), the City earns program 
income throughout the year.  However, prior to 2008, the City drew down grant funds without 
offsetting costs with earned program income.  In addition, for a portion of 2008, the program 
income in the CDBG RLF was used as a cash flow loan to cover eligible expenses of the Lead 
Based Paint Hazard Control (Lead) program, until such Lead expenses could be reimbursed 
by the Lead grant from HUD.  This practice stopped in mid-2008. 

  
During 2008, the Community Development Department prepared written guidelines for the use 
of program income prior to submitting costs for reimbursement from federal grant funds.  
Additionally, the Community Development Department has computed the amount of interest 
earned on advance funds in the HOME program over the past five years and remitted it to 
HUD in mid-2008.  Also Community Development Department computed the amount of 
interest that should have been earned on the CDBG RLF program income that was loaned to 
the Lead grant program and remitted it to HUD in mid-2008.  

       
During 2008 the City implemented procedures to ensure that a secondary review of these 
calculations will be made by other Community Development or City staff.    
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Matching (Partially Corrected): 
In the Supportive Housing Program, the Human Services department did not always follow 
proper procedures to obtain or review supporting documentation to verify the match amounts 
reported by sub-recipients were from an allowable source and were accurate and complete.   
  
The Human Services Department requested that sub-recipients submit supporting documents 
for match amounts claimed with monthly invoices, and for all match amounts claimed on 
Annual Progress Reports submitted in 2008.  The department accountant reviewed supporting 
documents to ensure the amounts claimed for match are allowable, accurate, and complete.  
During 2008, most of the supporting documents for sub-recipient match were followed up on, 
but there continued to be several instances where the follow-up did not occur.  The City will 
continue to refine its procedures to ensure compliance with this requirement. 

 
Suspension and Disbarment (Partially Corrected): 
The 2007 audit revealed that not all Subrecipients or required Contractors were timely checked 
for Suspension and Disbarment on the federal Excluded Parties Listing System prior to 
awarding their contracts.   

 
The Community Development Department reviewed and revised in writing the existing 
procedures and monitoring process to ensure compliance with suspension and debarment 
requirements for all subrecipients and any contractors paid in excess of $25,000.   The 
department also revised the standard language in their subrecipient and vendor contracts to 
require that the subrecipients/contractors attested to their Suspension/Debarment status as 
part of their contracts.  Despite these measures, there continued to be several instances that 
the status of suspension/debarment was not documented.  The City will continue to refine its 
procedures to ensure compliance with this requirement. 

 
Reporting (Fully Corrected): 
Federal Cash Transaction Reports for CDBG are completed and submitted to HUD on a 
quarterly basis by the Community Development accountant.  In 2008, the secondary review of 
the reports was made by other Community Development or City staff.  

 
The Community Development Department now has a reviewer sign the quarterly Federal Cash 
Transaction Reports that are prepared by the Community Development accountant.   

 
Subrecipient Monitoring (Fully Corrected): 
The City is required to obtain audit reports from any subrecipient that expends $500,000 or 
more in federal grant funds.  In 2008, the City Community Development and Human Services 
Departments adequately followed this requirement.  The Community Development 
Department also established written procedures and monitoring processes to ensure 
compliance.  The City now ensures there is secondary review of this process made by other 
City staff.   
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Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal 

Control over Financial Reporting and on 

Compliance and Other Matters in Accordance 

with Government Auditing Standards 

 
City of Spokane 
Spokane County 

January 1, 2008 through December 31, 2008 
 
 
Mayor and City Council 
City of Spokane 
Spokane, Washington 
 
 
We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type 
activities, each major fund and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Spokane, 
Spokane County, Washington, as of and for the year ended December 31, 2008, which 
collectively comprise the City‘s basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon 
dated September 30, 2009.   
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America and the standards applicable to the financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. 
 
INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING 
 
In planning and performing our audit, we considered the City’s internal control over financial 
reporting as a basis for designing our auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our 
opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the City’s internal control over financial reporting.  Accordingly, we do not 
express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control over financial reporting. 
 
A control deficiency exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to 
prevent or detect misstatements on a timely basis.  A significant deficiency is a control 
deficiency, or combination of control deficiencies, that adversely affects the City's ability to 
initiate, authorize, record, process or report financial data reliably in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles such that there is more than a remote likelihood that a 
misstatement of the City's financial statements that is more than inconsequential will not be 
prevented or detected by the City's internal control. 
 
A material weakness is a significant deficiency, or combination of significant deficiencies, that 
results in more than a remote likelihood that a material misstatement of the financial statements 
will not be prevented or detected by the entity’s internal control. 
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Our consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose 
described in the first paragraph of this section and would not necessarily identify all deficiencies 
in internal control that might be significant deficiencies or material weaknesses.  We did not 
identify any deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting that we consider to be 
material weaknesses, as defined above. 
 
However, we noted certain matters that we will report to the management of the City in a 
separate letter dated September 30, 2009. 
 
COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City’s financial statements are 
free of material misstatement, we performed tests of the City’s compliance with certain 
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which 
could have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts.  
However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our 
audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. 
 
The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are 
required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards. 
 
This report is intended for the information and use of the audit committee, management, the 
Mayor and City Council, federal awarding agencies and pass-through entities.  However, this 
report is a matter of public record and its distribution is not limited.  It also serves to disseminate 
information to the public as a reporting tool to help citizens assess government operations. 
 

 
BRIAN SONNTAG, CGFM 
STATE AUDITOR 
 
September 30, 2009 
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Independent Auditor’s Report on Compliance 

with Requirements Applicable to each Major 

Program and Internal Control over Compliance 

in Accordance with OMB Circular A-133 

 
City of Spokane 
Spokane County 

January 1, 2008 through December 31, 2008 
 
 
Mayor and City Council 
City of Spokane 
Spokane, Washington 
 
 
COMPLIANCE 
 
We have audited the compliance of the City of Spokane, Spokane County, Washington, with the 
types of compliance requirements described in the U.S. Office of Management and Budget 
(OMB) Circular A-133 Compliance Supplement that are applicable to its major federal programs 
for the year ended December 31, 2008.  The City’s major federal programs are identified in the 
Federal Summary.  Compliance with the requirements of laws, regulations, contracts and grants 
applicable to its major federal programs is the responsibility of the City’s management.  Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on the City’s compliance based on our audit. 
 
We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States of America; the standards applicable to the financial audits 
contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United 
States; and OMB Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit 
Organizations.  Those standards and OMB Circular A-133 require that we plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of 
compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on a 
major federal program occurred.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about 
the City’s compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we 
considered necessary in the circumstances.  We believe that our audit provides a reasonable 
basis for our opinion.  Our audit does not provide a legal determination on the City’s compliance 
with those requirements. 
 
As described in Findings 1 and 2 in the accompanying Schedule of Federal Audit Findings and 
Questioned Costs, the City did not comply with requirements regarding allowable costs/cost 
principles, cash management, procurement and suspension and debarment, program income, 
and subrecipient monitoring that are applicable to the Community Development Block 
Grants/Entitlement Grants and Workforce Investment Act  programs.  Compliance with such 
requirements is necessary, in our opinion, for the City to comply with requirements applicable to 
the programs. 
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In our opinion, except for the noncompliance described in the preceding paragraphs, the City 
complied, in all material respects, with the requirements referred to above that are applicable to 
its major federal programs for the year ended December 31, 2008.  The results of our auditing 
procedures also disclosed another instance of noncompliance with those requirements which is 
required to be reported in accordance with OMB Circular A-133 and which is described in the 
accompanying Schedule of Federal Audit Findings and Questioned Costs as Finding 1. 
 
INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE 
 
The management of the City is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal 
control over compliance with requirements of laws, regulations, contracts and grants applicable 
to federal programs.  In planning and performing our audit, we considered the City’s internal 
control over compliance with the requirements that could have a direct and material effect on a 
major federal program in order to determine our auditing procedures for the purpose of 
expressing our opinion on compliance and to test and report on internal control over 
compliance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal 
control over compliance.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
City's internal control over compliance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in 
the preceding paragraph and would not necessarily identify all deficiencies in the entity’s 
internal control that might be significant deficiencies or material weaknesses as defined below.  
However, as discussed below, we identified certain deficiencies in internal control over 
compliance that we consider to be significant deficiencies. 
 
A control deficiency in an entity’s internal control over compliance exists when the design or 
operation of a control does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of 
performing their assigned functions, to prevent or detect noncompliance with a type of 
compliance requirement of a federal program on a timely basis.  A significant deficiency is a 
control deficiency, or combination of control deficiencies, that adversely affects the entity’s 
ability to administer a federal program such that there is more than a remote likelihood that 
noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is more than 
inconsequential will not be prevented or detected by the entity’s internal control.  We consider 
the deficiencies in internal control over compliance described in the accompanying Schedule of 
Federal Audit Findings and Questioned Costs as Findings 1 and 2 to be significant deficiencies.    
  
A material weakness is a significant deficiency, or combination of significant deficiencies, that 
results in more than a remote likelihood that material noncompliance with a type of compliance 
requirement of a federal program will not be prevented or detected by the entity’s internal 
control.  Of the significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance described in the 
accompanying Schedule of Federal Audit Findings and Questioned Costs, we consider 
Findings 1 and 2 to be material weaknesses.  
 
The City's response to the finding identified in our audit is described in the accompanying 
Schedule of Federal Audit Findings and Questioned Costs.  We did not audit the City's 
response and, accordingly, we express no opinion on it. 
 
This report is intended for the information of the audit committee, management, the Mayor and 
City Council, federal awarding agencies and pass-through entities.  However, this report is a 
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matter of public record and its distribution is not limited.  It also serves to disseminate 
information to the public as a reporting tool to help citizens assess government operations. 
 

 
BRIAN SONNTAG, CGFM 
STATE AUDITOR 
 
September 30, 2009 
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Independent Auditor’s Report on Financial 

Statements  
 

City of Spokane 
Spokane County 

January 1, 2008 through December 31, 2008 
 
 
Mayor and City Council 
City of Spokane 
Spokane, Washington 
 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the 
business-type activities, each major fund and the aggregate remaining fund information of the 
City of Spokane, Spokane County, Washington, as of and for the year ended December 31, 
2008, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed on page 29.  
These financial statements are the responsibility of the City’s management.  Our responsibility is 
to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.  Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free of material misstatement.  An audit includes examining, on a test 
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  An audit 
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.  We believe 
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions. 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each 
major fund and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Spokane, as of 
December 31, 2008, and the respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, 
cash flows thereof, and the budgetary comparison for the General Fund, for the year then ended 
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report on our 
consideration of the City’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and 
other matters.  The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal 
control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide 
an opinion on the internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.  That report is an 
integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards and 
should be considered in assessing the results of our audit. 
 
The management’s discussion and analysis on pages 30 through 40 and pension trust fund 
information on pages 104 through 107 are not a required part of the basic financial statements 
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but are supplementary information required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board.  
We have applied certain limited procedures, which consisted principally of inquiries of 
management regarding the methods of measurement and presentation of the required 
supplementary information.  However, we did not audit the information and express no opinion 
on it. 
 
Our audit was performed for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements.  The accompanying Schedule of 
Expenditures of Federal Awards is presented for purposes of additional analysis as required by 
U.S. Office of Management and Budget Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments, 
and Non-Profit Organizations.  This schedule is not a required part of the basic financial 
statements.  Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the 
audit of the basic financial statements and, in our opinion, is fairly stated, in all material 
respects, in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole. 
 

 
BRIAN SONNTAG, CGFM 
STATE AUDITOR 
 
September 30, 2009 
 
 

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
                                                                              Washington State Auditor's Office 
                                                                                                       28



 

 

Financial Section 

 
City of Spokane 
Spokane County 

January 1, 2008 through December 31, 2008 
 
 
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION 
 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis – 2008 
 
 

BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Statement of Net Assets – 2008 
Statement of Activities – 2008 
Balance Sheet – Governmental Funds – 2008 
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance – Governmental 

Funds – 2008 
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund 

Balances of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities – 2008 
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance – Budget and 

Actual – General Fund – 2008 
Statement of Net Assets – Proprietary Funds – 2008 
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Assets – Proprietary Funds – 

2008 
Statement of Cash Flows – Proprietary Funds – 2008 
Statement of Fiduciary Net Assets – Fiduciary Funds – 2008 
Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Assets – Fiduciary Funds – 2008 
Notes to Financial Statements – 2008 
 
 

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION 
 

Employees’ Retirement System – Schedule of Funding Progress and Schedule of 
Employer Contributions – 2008 

Firefighters’ Pension Fund – Schedule of Funding Progress and Schedule of Employer 
Contributions – 2008 

Police Pension Fund – Schedule of Funding Progress and Schedule of Employer 
Contributions – 2008 

Notes to the Required Supplementary Information – Pension Plans – 2008 
 
 

SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION 
 

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards – 2008 
Notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards – 2008 
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

 
Within this section of the City of Spokane, Washington (the City)’s annual financial report, the City’s 
management is pleased to provide this narrative discussion and analysis of the financial activities of the 
City as of and for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008.  The City’s financial performance is 
discussed and analyzed within the context of the accompanying financial statements and disclosures 
following this section.   
 
Financial Highlights 
 
• The City’s assets exceeded its liabilities by $2,179,583,151 (net assets) for the fiscal year reported.   
 
• Total net assets are comprised of the following: 
 

(1) Capital assets, net of related debt of $1,873,856,082, includes property, equipment and 
infrastructure, net of accumulated depreciation, and is reduced for outstanding debt related to 
the purchase or construction of capital assets. 

(2) Net assets of $34,127,235 are restricted by constraints imposed from outside the City such as 
debt covenants, grantors, laws, or regulations. 

(3) Unrestricted net assets of $271,599,834 represent the portion available to maintain the City’s 
continuing obligations to citizens and creditors. 

 
• The City’s governmental funds reported a total ending fund balance of $195,959,676 this year.  This 

compares to the prior year ending fund balance of $142,057,684, showing a significant increase of 
$53,901,992 during the current year.  Of this increase, $27,191,424 was a prior period adjustment 
related to a change in the financial presentation of revolving loans receivable in Community 
Development funds. Unreserved fund balance of $159,788,295 at 12/31/08 is a $28,328,129 increase 
from the prior year. 

 
• At the end of the current fiscal year, unreserved fund balance for the General Fund was $35,528,091, 

or 23% of total General Fund expenditures including transfers and 23% of total General Fund 
revenues including transfers. 

 
• Overall, the City improved its strong financial position in 2008, and is continuing to invest in the local 

economy, despite ongoing budgetary pressures related to the general economic downturn. 
 
The above financial highlights are explained in more detail in the “financial analysis” section of this 
document. 
 
Overview of the Financial Statements 
 
This Management Discussion and Analysis document introduces the City’s basic financial statements.  
The basic financial statements include:  (1) government-wide financial statements, (2) fund financial 
statements, and (3) notes to the basic financial statements.  The City also includes in this report 
additional information to supplement the basic financial statements.  Comparative data is presented when 
available.   
 
Government-wide Financial Statements 
 
The City’s annual report includes two government-wide financial statements.  These statements provide 
both long-term and short-term information about the City's overall financial status.  Financial reporting at 
this level uses a perspective similar to that found in the private sector with its basis in accrual accounting 
and elimination or reclassification of activities between funds.    
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The first of these government-wide statements is the Statement of Net Assets.  This is the government-
wide statement of position presenting information that includes all of the City’s assets and liabilities, with 
the difference reported as net assets.  Over time, increases or decreases in net assets may serve as a 
useful indicator of whether the financial position of the City as a whole is improving or deteriorating.  
Evaluation of the overall health of the City would extend to other nonfinancial factors such as 
diversification of the taxpayer base or the condition of City infrastructure, in addition to the financial 
information provided in this report. 
 
The second government-wide statement is the Statement of Activities, which reports how the City’s net 
assets changed during the current fiscal year.  All current year revenues and expenses are included 
regardless of when cash is received or paid.  An important purpose of the design of the statement of 
activities is to show the financial reliance of the City's distinct activities or functions on revenues provided 
by the City's taxpayers. 
 
Both government-wide financial statements distinguish governmental activities of the City that are 
principally supported by property, sales and business occupation taxes from business-type activities that 
are intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges.  
Governmental activities include general government, judicial, public safety, physical environment, 
transportation, health and human services, economic environment, and culture and recreation.  Business-
type activities include the utility services, golf courses, and the building services funds.  The internal 
service funds provide services to other funds within the City and the majority of these activities are 
reported in governmental activities at the government-wide financial reporting level.   
 
The government-wide financial statements are presented on pages 16 & 17 of this report. 
 
Fund Financial Statements 
 
A fund is an accountability unit used to maintain control over resources segregated for specific activities 
or objectives.  The City uses funds to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related laws and 
regulations.  Within the basic financial statements, fund financial statements focus on the City’s most 
significant funds rather than the City as a whole.  Major funds are separately reported while all others are 
combined into a single, aggregated presentation.  Individual fund data for non-major funds is provided in 
the form of combining statements in a later section of this report. 
 
The City has three kinds of funds: 
 
Governmental funds are reported in the fund financial statements and encompass the same functions 
reported as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements.  However, the focus is 
very different with fund statements providing a distinctive view of the City’s governmental funds.  These 
statements report short-term fiscal accountability focusing on the use of spendable resources and 
balances of spendable resources available at the end of the year.  They are useful in evaluating annual 
financing requirements of governmental programs and the commitment of spendable resources for the 
near-term. 
 
Since the government-wide focus includes the long-term view, comparisons between these two 
perspectives may provide insight into the long-term impact of short-term financing decisions.   Both the 
governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund operating statement provide a reconciliation 
to assist in understanding the differences between these two perspectives. 
 
Budgetary comparison statements are included as “basic financial statements” for the General Fund.  
Budgetary comparison schedules for all other governmental funds can be found in a later section of this 
report.  These statements demonstrate compliance with the City’s adopted and final revised budget.   
 
The basic governmental fund financial statements are presented on pages 19-20 of this report. 
 
Individual fund information for non-major governmental funds is found in combining statements in a later 
section of this report. 
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Proprietary funds are reported in the fund financial statements and generally report services for which the 
City charges customers a fee.  The City proprietary funds are classified as either enterprise funds or 
internal service funds.    The enterprise funds essentially encompass the same functions reported as 
business-type activities in the government-wide statements.  The internal service funds provide services 
to other funds of the City.    
 
The basic proprietary fund financial statements are presented on pages 24-28 of this report.  
 
Fiduciary funds include three single employer pension plans for City employees and various agency 
funds.  The City reports these funds only at the fund level since the resources in these funds are not 
available for City use.  The fund level financial statements for fiduciary funds begin on page 29 of this 
report.  
 
Notes To The  Basic  Financial Statements 
  
The accompanying notes to the financial statements provide information essential to a full understanding 
of the government-wide and fund financial statements.  The notes to the financial statements begin on 
page 31 of this report. 
 
 
Financial Analysis of the City as a Whole 
 
Over time, as year-to-year financial information is accumulated on a consistent basis, changes in net 
assets may be observed and used to discuss the changing financial position of the City as a whole.   
 
The City’s net assets at fiscal year-end are $ 2,179,583,151.  The following table provides a summary of 
the City’s net assets: 
 

Summary of Net Assets  
12/31 

         
  Governmental  Business-Type     
  Activities  Activities  Total   
Assets:  2008 2007  2008 2007  2008 2007   
Current & other 
assets   

$ 264,984,637 225,819,629 
 

$ 186,635,240 179,998,861 
 

$ 451,619,877 405,818,490 
  

Restricted 
assets  

 
- - 

 
22,380,008 22,780,633 

 
22,380,008 22,780,633 

  

Capital assets  1,490,342,190 1,475,695,202  518,969,537 503,796,953  2,009,311,727 1,979,492,155   

Total assets  1,755,326,827 1,701,514,831  727,984,785 706,576,447  2,483,311,612 2,408,091,278   
            

Liabilities:            

Current liabilities  25,056,817 20,286,465  9,262,752 13,628,625  34,319,569 33,915,090   
Long-term 
liabilities 

 
194,894,850 160,862,793 

 
74,514,042 82,405,719  269,408,892 243,268,512 

  

Total liabilities  219,951,667 181,149,258  83,776,794 96,034,344  303,728,461 277,183,602   

            

Net assets:            
Capital assets, net 
of debt 

 
1,410,639,225 1,398,670,923 

 
463,216,857 436,017,731  1,873,856,082 1,834,688,654 

  

Restricted  9,535,792 28,468,047  24,591,443 25,371,635  34,127,235 53,839,682   
Unrestricted  115,200,143 93,226,607  156,399,691 149,152,737  271,599,834 242,379,344   

Total net assets 
 

$ 1,535,375,160 1,520,365,577 
 

$ 644,207,991 610,542,103 
 

$ 2,179,583,151 2,130,907,680 
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The City continues to maintain a high current ratio.  The current ratio compares current assets to current 
liabilities and is an indication of the ability to pay current obligations.  The current ratio for governmental 
activities is 9.4 to 1 and 21.5 to 1 for business type activities.  For the City overall, the current ratio is 12.7 
to 1.  We consider these ratios to be very strong. 
 
The City reported positive balances in net assets for both governmental and business-type activities.  Net 
assets increased $15,009,583 for governmental activities, which included a $2,993,272 prior period 
increase related to a change in tax revenue accruals and an increase for current year activities of 
$10,649,065.  Business activities’ net assets increased by a total of $33,665,888, which contributed to a 
net government-wide increase of $48,675,471 in net assets. 
 
Note that approximately 92% of the governmental activities’ net assets are related to capital (with 36% of 
the capital assets being infrastructure).  The City uses these capital assets to provide services to its 
citizens.  With business-type activities, the City has spent approximately 72% of its net assets on capital 
(with 28% of the capital assets being infrastructure).  Capital assets in the business-type activities provide 
utility services, but they also generate revenues for these funds.  Capital assets make up 86% of the 
City’s total net assets. 
 
The following page provides a summary of the City’s changes in net assets: 
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Summary of Changes in Net Assets for the Year Ended 12/31 

         
        % 
  Governmental 

Activities 
 Business-Type 

Activities 
  

Total 
 Of 

Total 
Revenues:  2008 2007  2008 2007  2008 2007  2008 
 Program:            
Charges for 
services 

 
$ 29,270,532 23,922,809 

 
$ 162,155,776 164,526,376 

 
$ 191,426,308 188,449,185 

 
47% 

Operating 
grants 

 
14,802,160 12,646,654 

 
928,417 190,732 

 
15,730,577 12,837,386 

 
4% 

Capital grants  15,415,531 10,068,607  15,013,790 11,725,415  30,429,321 21,794,022  7% 
General:            
  Taxes  154,317,788 147,379,890  - -  154,317,788 147,379,890  38% 

  Interest  10,018,784 9,304,057  6,408,940 8,070,683  16,427,724 17,374,740  4% 
Total 
revenues 

 
223,824,795 203,322,017  184,506,923 184,513,206  408,331,718 387,835,223  100% 

            
Program 
expenses: 

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

 General 
    government 

 
11,147,423 19,752,640 

 
- - 

 
11,147,423 19,752,640 

 
3% 

 Judicial  6,640,000 5,909,358  - -  6,640,000 5,909,358  2% 
 Public safety  99,769,417 93,939,142  - -  99,769,417 93,939,142  27% 
 Physical 
    
environment 

 

2,761,986 2,583,862 

 

- - 

 

2,761,986 2,583,862 

 

1% 
 
Transportation 

 
39,220,701 37,481,145 

 
- - 

 
39,220,701 37,481,145 

 
11% 

 Health and 
human 
   services 

 

82,800 95,080 

 

- - 

 

82,800 95,080 

 

0% 
 Economic  
   environment 

 
20,237,513 23,606,801 

 
- - 

 
20,237,513 23,606,801 

 
6% 

 Culture and          
   recreation 

 
25,124,592 21,276,391 

 
- - 

 
25,124,592 21,276,391 

 
7% 

 Interest  8,200,851 6,587,872  - -  8,200,851 6,587,872  2% 
 Water  - -  29,099,922 29,130,943  29,099,922 29,130,943  8% 
 Sewer  - -  45,299,200 40,312,822  45,299,200 40,312,822  12% 
 Solid Waste  - -  68,910,628 63,682,115  68,910,628 63,682,115  19% 
 Other 
business   
   types 

 

- - 

 

6,746,886 7,507,962 

 

6,746,886 7,507,962 

 

2% 
Total 
expenses 

 
213,185,283 211,232,291  150,056,636 140,633,842  363,241,919 351,866,133  100% 

Excess 
revenues 
     (expenses)  10,639,512 (7,910,274)  34,450,287 43,879,364  45,089,799 35,969,090   
            
Transfers  9,554 (1,172,533)  (9,554) 1,172,533  - -   
Change in net   
   assets 

 
10,649,066 (9,082,807)  34,440,733 45,051,897  45,089,799 35,969,090 

 
 

            
Prior period   
   adjustments 

 
4,360,518 8,724,691  (774,845) (39,464)  3,585,673 8,685,227 

 
 

            
Beginning net  
   assets 

 
1,520,365,577 1,520,723,693  610,542,103 565,529,670  2,130,907,680 2,086,253,363 

 
 

            
Ending net  
   assets 

 
$ 1,535,375,161 1,520,365,577 

 
$ 644,207,991 610,542,103 

 
$ 2,179,583,152 2,130,907,680 
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GOVERNMENTAL REVENUES 
 
The City is heavily reliant on three types of taxes to support governmental operations.  Sales taxes 
provided 18% of the revenues for governmental activities.  Property taxes provided 23% of these 
revenues, and utility taxes total 25%.  Charges for services totaled 14% of these revenues and grants and 
contributions totaled 14%.  Note that program revenues cover approximately 28% of governmental 
operating expenses.  This means that the government’s taxpayers and the City’s other general revenues 
fund 72% of the governmental activities.  As a result, the general economy and the local businesses have 
a major impact on the City’s revenue streams.     
 

GOVERNMENTAL FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES 
 
Public safety costs comprise 47% of the City’s total governmental expenses.  Transportation and culture 
and recreation costs make up 18% and 12%, respectively, of the total governmental expenses.  The 
economic environment expenses are 9% of governmental expenses. 
    
This table presents the cost of each of the City’s programs, including the net costs (i.e., total cost less 
revenues generated by the activities).  The net costs illustrate the financial burden that is placed on the 
City’s taxpayers by each of these functions. 
 
 

Governmental Activities 
     
  Total Cost  Net Cost 
  Of Services  Of Services 
  2008 2007  2008 2007 
General government $ 11,147,423 19,752,640 $ 1,089,947 10,443,758 
Judicial  6,640,000 5,909,358  3,374,275 2,785,006 
Public safety  99,769,417 93,939,142  92,563,738 88,125,529 
Physical environment  2,761,986 2,583,862  2,662,071 2,259,898 
Transportation  39,220,701 37,481,145  20,802,832 27,093,847 
Health and human services  82,800 95,080  (155,728) (12,812) 
Economic environment  20,237,513 23,606,801  5,006,258 9,766,698 
Culture and recreation  25,124,592 21,276,391  20,152,816 17,544,425 
Interest  8,200,851 6,587,871  8,200,851 6,587,872 
Total $ 213,185,283 211,232,291 $ 153,697,060 164,594,221 

 
 

Program revenues covered the program expenses for only one function in 2008, health and human 
services. The capital contributions of $1.1 million in the general government function related to the 
collections of special assessments from property owners for the construction of sidewalks and alleys, etc. 
The offsetting costs related to the contributions will be reflected as expenses in subsequent years as the 
City depreciates the capital assets constructed.  
 
 

BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES  
Revenues vs. Costs 

 
For all enterprise funds, the City reports a current ratio of 21.5 to 1, which is an extremely healthy ratio.  
The business-type activities report capitalized assets of over $519 million, which provide a variety of 
services to the citizens of Spokane as well as some populations outside the city limits.   
 
 
The business-type activities report over $156 million in unrestricted net assets, which provide these funds 
with adequate resources to maintain service levels without substantial increases in their revenue streams. 
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The operating revenues for all six of the City’s enterprise funds were up comparable with amounts from 
2007, with operating expenses 7% higher than the prior year.  Within the total business-type activities of 
the City, these enterprise funds reported nearly $14 million in operating income compared to operating 
income of $24 million for 2007.  The City carefully sets utility rates each year to properly charge the 
citizens of Spokane for the current year operations and capital plans.  This can result in some variability in 
operating results when comparing several years.  A detailed discussion of the major enterprise funds is 
presented in a separate section below.   
 
 
Financial Analysis of the City’s Funds  
 
Governmental funds 
 
As discussed, governmental funds are reported in the fund statements with a short-term, inflow and 
outflow of spendable resources focus.  This information is useful in assessing resources available at the 
end of the year in comparison with upcoming financing requirements.  Governmental funds reported 
ending fund balances of approximately $196 million.  Of this year-end total, $159.7 million is unreserved 
indicating availability for continuing City service requirements.  Legally restricted fund balances (i.e., the 
reserved fund balances) include $5.9 million committed to service debt and $368,096 committed to capital 
projects.   
 
The total ending fund balances of governmental funds show an increase of $22.8 million from the prior 
year.  This increase includes the proceeds from the sale of unlimited tax general obligation bonds in June, 
2008 in the “Capital Improvements – 2008 Parks Fund”.  This fund contributed $36.7 million of the 
positive change, with the other governmental funds experiencing a decrease in fund balances of $13.9 
million.  These decreases  largely are the result of the nation-wide economic downturn that have had a 
significant effect on taxes collected on retail sales and real estate transactions. 
  
Major Governmental Funds 
 
The General Fund is the City’s primary operating fund and the largest source of day-to-day service 
delivery.  The General Fund’s fund balance decreased  by $1.05 million.   In the prior year, the fund 
balance increased by $7.5 million.  Unreserved fund balance as a percentage of expenditures was 23% 
of annual operations, as compared with 25% at the end of 2007.  Despite this slight reduction, the 
General Fund reserves are still considered extremely strong, and provide management the ability to 
effectively manage the economic downturn and budgetary challenges that are facing many businesses 
and governments at this time. Over the past four years, the City’s management and elected officials have 
committed to building a robust reserve to ensure the long-term financial health of the General Fund, and 
the fund balance at the end of 2008 reflects the results of this commitment.  The steps they have taken to 
achieve this result are discussed in the Budgetary Highlights section of this analysis. 
  
Taxes totaling $119 million made up 80% of total general fund revenue in 2008 as compared to 81% in 
2007.  All other sources of revenue were similar to 2007, with the exception of interfund charges for 
services, which increased $2.1 million over the prior year.  Almost $1 million of this increase related to 
interfund engineering services, which is tied to the increased streets and other capital projects in 2008.   
 
General fund expenditures increased $10.5 million or approximately 9.7%. Public safety made up 65% of 
total expenditures.  Since the general fund supports a number of programs in other funds, $33.4 million 
was transferred to these funds. 
 
The Proprietary Funds 
 
The City reports six primary enterprise funds, of which three are considered major funds.  These three 
funds provide the utility services of water, sewer and solid waste to the citizens of Spokane.  The City 
also maintains seven internal service funds.   
 

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
                                                                              Washington State Auditor's Office 
                                                                                                       36



  
 

The Water System - The water system reports net assets of over $168 million, with 74% represented by 
capital assets.  The current ratio for this fund is 16.6 to 1 which provides this fund with significant 
resources to cover cash flow issues. 
  
The water system reported operating income of $1.3 million with a total increase in net assets of 
approximately $7.1 million after capital contributions and transfers in from other funds.  These amounts 
were comparable to  2007 with related amounts of $2.9 million and $7.1 million.  This fund has adequate 
reserves to support its long-term financial health, and provide service to its ratepayers. 
 
The Sewer System – The sewer system reports net assets of over $332 million, with 84% invested in 
capital assets.  The current ratio for this fund is 9.1 to 1 which provides this fund with adequate resources 
to cover cash flow issues.   
 
The sewer system reported operating income of $10.3 million with a total increase in net assets of 
approximately $22.5 million after capital contributions and transfers in from other funds.  These amounts 
are comparable to the 2007 related amounts of $11.9 million and $26.1 million. The 2008 capital 
contributions of $11.2 million include a combination of unamortized balances of state and federal grants, 
and builder contributed and donated assets.   
 
The sewer system reported operating revenues of $56,336,096, which is a 6.3% increase over the prior 
year. 
 
The Solid Waste System – The solid waste fund reports net assets of over $119 million.  The investment 
in capital assets less related debt (i.e., the book value of the capital assets less related debt) is 
approximately $60.1 million.  The current ratio for this fund is 18.5 to 1 which provides this fund with 
adequate resources to cover cash flow requirements. This fund reports over $48.9 million in unrestricted 
net assets.   
 
The solid waste fund reported operating income of $2.7 million with a total increase in net assets of 
approximately $2.6 million after transfers out to other funds.  These amounts show a decrease from 
related amounts of $10.4 million and $8.4 million for 2007.  Solid waste rates were not raised in 2008, 
while operating expenses increased by nearly $6 million. The fund still has very robust reserves that will 
be adequate to provide service to its ratepayers in the future.  
 
 
Budgetary Highlights 
 
The General Fund – The General Fund’s original revenue budget was $132,000 less than the 2007 
actual results. The original expenditure budget was $7.1 million more than the 2007 actual results.  The 
management of the City was actively engaged in developing a budget that did not spend more than 
current year revenues would support.  The City Council amended both the revenue and expenditure 
budgets during 2008; the amendments resulted in an approximate 3% change between the original and 
final budgets for revenues and a 9% change for expenditures.  In total, final budgeted revenues exceeded 
the actual revenues by less than 1%. The total actual expenditures were approximately $5.2 million less 
than budgeted, or 4% below budget. 
 
On the revenue side of the budget, all of the categories corresponded closely with the budget, except for 
fines and forfeitures, where there was a decrease of $1 million over the budgeted amount, due to lower 
than anticipated collections of civil and parking infractions.   
 
On the expenditure side of the budget, the largest variances between the final budget and the actual 
amounts were in the general government, economic environment, and capital outlay categories.  
Generally, these positive variances related to reduced expenditures in the planning department, and in 
lower than anticipated capital expenditures on the City Hall HVAC project. 
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As indicated by the budgetary operating statement, the City staff considers the annual budget to be an 
extremely important document and attempts to include in the budget their best estimate of revenue and 
expenditures.  In 2008, City staff continued to focus on the ongoing structural gap between the rates of 
growth of revenues versus expenditures in the General Fund.  The City is also utilizing longer term 
budgetary projections to help the management and City Council make strategically sound budget 
decisions.  
 
 
Capital Assets and Debt Administration 
 
Capital assets 
 
The City's investment in capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, for governmental and business-
type activities as of December 31, 2008, was $1.5 billion and $519 million respectively.  The 3% increase 
for business-type activities was for normal improvement and additions to the utilities’ infrastructure. See 
Note 5 for additional information about changes in capital assets during the fiscal year and amounts 
outstanding at the end of the year.  The following table provides a summary of capital assets. 
 
 

Capital Assets 
(Amounts Presented in $1,000’s) 

 
  Governmental 

Activities 
 Business-Type 

Activities 
 

Total 
 Percentage  

Of Total      
  2008  2007  2008  2007  2008  2007  2008  2007 
Non-
depreciable 
assets:                 
Land $ 825,579 $ 824,318 $ 20,028 $ 19,554 $ 845,607 $ 843,872  30%  31% 
Construction 
in progress  48,014  22,126  30,215  65,357  78,229  87,483  3%  3% 
 Total non-
depreciable  873,593  846,444  50,243  84,911  923,836  931,355  33%  34% 
                 
Depreciable 
assets:                 
Buildings  76,899  76,505  273,398  225,696  350,297  302,201  13%  11% 
Other 
improvements  21,102  20,048  52,266  51,140  73,368  71,188  3%  3% 
Machinery 
and 
equipment  78,190  74,318  102,200  101,608  180,390  175,926  6%  6% 
Infrastructure  909,513  898,565  351,388  332,225  1,260,901  1,230,790  45%  45% 
Total 
depreciable 
assets  1,085,704  1,069,436  779,252  710,669  1,864,956  1,780,105  67%  66% 
                 
Total cost of 
capital assets  1,959,297  1,915,880  829,495  795,580  2,788,792  2,711,460  100%  100% 
                 
Accumulated 
depreciation  468,955  440,181  310,578  291,838  779,533  732,019     
                 
Book value – 
capital assets $ 1,490,342 $ 1,475,699 $ 518,917 $ 503,742 $ 2,009,259 $ 1,979,441     
                 
Percentage 
depreciated  24%  23%  37%  37%  28%  27%     
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At December 31, 2008, the depreciable capital assets for governmental activities were 24% depreciated.  
This is an increase from 23% at December 31, 2007.    
 
With the City’s business type activities, 37% of the asset values were depreciated at December 31, 2008 
and December 31, 2007.  These percentages indicate that the City is maintaining and replacing their 
assets at a favorable rate.  The percentage of depreciated assets for each of the four enterprise funds 
that report capital assets is as follows: 
 
 Water System  32% 
 
 Sewer System  32% 
 
 Solid Waste  56% 
 
 Golf    42% 
 
Long-term debt 
 
At the end of the fiscal year, the City had long-term debt outstanding of over $221 million.  Of this amount, 
$160 million or 72% is backed by the full faith and credit of the City (general obligation bonds) with debt 
service fully funded by voter-approved property taxes or general government revenue.  The other major 
component is $41 million supported by pledged revenues generated primarily by the business-type 
activities of the City (revenue bonds).   
 
During the year, the City retired $26.7 million or 13% of the beginning outstanding borrowed debt 
balance. 
 

Outstanding Borrowings 
(in $1,000’s) 

               

  
Governmental 

Activities  
Business-Type 

Activities 
 

Totals   

  2008  2007  2008  2007  2008  2007  
Percentage 

Change 
               
General obligation 
bonds $ 160,136 $ 129,836 $ 454 $ 454 

$ 
160,590 $ 130,290  23.26% 

               
Special assessment 
debt  3,070  3,905  -  - 

 
3,070  3,905  -21.38% 

               
Revenue bonds  -  -  41,255  52,865  41,255  52,865  -21.96% 
               
Capital leases  22  44  -  -  22  44  -50% 
               
Bank and other loans  2,608  1,906  13,981  14,348  16,589  16,254  2.08% 
               
Total $ 165,836 $ 135,691 $ 55,690 $ 67,667 $ 221,526 $ 203,358  8.94% 

 
 
During the year, the City issued $42,900,000 in new general obligation debt, and $2,030,677 of bank and 
other loans.  The debt per capita for the citizens of the City of Spokane was approximately $1,092. 
 
See Note 10 for additional information about the City’s long-term debt. 
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Economic Conditions Affecting the City 
 
Since one of the primary revenue streams for the City is sales tax, the City’s sales tax revenues are 
subject to changes in the economy. Sales taxes are considered an “elastic” revenue stream; tax 
collections are higher in a flourishing economy and are lower in a depressed economy.  While enjoying a 
strong economy for the past several years, the City of Spokane is currently dealing with the nation-wide 
economic downturn. The City’s management and elected officials are prepared to deal with any these 
revenue fluctuations because of the strong reserves that have been established.   
 
 
Contacting the City’s Financial Management 
 
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the City’s finances, comply with finance-
related laws and regulations, and demonstrate the City’s commitment to public accountability.  If you have 
questions about this report or would like to request additional information, contact the City’s Office of 
Finance, 808 West Spokane Falls Boulevard, Spokane, WA 99201. 
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STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS
DECEMBER 31, 2008

GOVERNMENTAL BUSINESS-TYPE
ACTIVITIES ACTIVITIES TOTAL

ASSETS
  Current Assets:
      Cash and cash equivalents $ 37,081,024 $ 14,153,531 $ 51,234,555
      Equity in Pooled Investments 178,003,020 127,148,995 305,152,015
      Receivables (net) 25,548,520 26,330,028 51,878,548
      Internal balances (6,378,954) 6,378,954 -
      Inventories 2,087,476 2,951,370 5,038,846
      Prepaid Items 56,290 - 56,290
      Restricted assets:
       Cash and cash equivalents - 22,380,008 22,380,008
  Noncurrent Assets:
     Deferred charges and other assets:
       Deferred charges - 1,703,451 1,703,451
       Noncurrent receivables 28,587,261 2,530,032 31,117,293
       Other assets - 5,438,879 5,438,879
  Capital Assets (net of accumulated
          depreciation):
       Land 825,579,412 20,028,416 845,607,828
       Property, plant and equipment 86,854,821 220,931,999 307,786,820
       Infrastructure 529,894,360 247,794,300 777,688,660
       Construction in progress 48,013,597 30,214,822 78,228,419

               Total assets 1,755,326,827 727,984,785 2,483,311,612

LIABILITIES 
  Current liabilities:
       Accounts payable and accrued expenses 15,238,232 7,002,437 22,240,669
       Unearned revenue 569,983                    1,236,055 1,806,038
       Other current liabilities 9,248,602                 1,024,260 10,272,862
  Noncurrent liabilities:
       Due within one year 24,417,573               17,038,009 41,455,582
       Due in more than one year 170,477,277             57,476,033 227,953,310

               Total liabilities 219,951,667 83,776,794 303,728,461

NET ASSETS
       Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 1,410,639,225 463,216,857 1,873,856,082
       Restricted for:
          Debt service - 22,380,008 22,380,008
          Other purposes 9,535,792 2,211,435 11,747,227
       Unrestricted 115,200,143 156,399,691 271,599,834

       Total net assets $ 1,535,375,160 $ 644,207,991 $ 2,179,583,151

The notes to the financial statements  are an integral part of this statement.

CITY OF SPOKANE

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
                                                                              Washington State Auditor's Office 
                                                                                                       41



  

O
PE

R
AT

IN
G

C
AP

IT
AL

BU
SI

N
ES

S-
C

H
AR

G
ES

 F
O

R
G

R
AN

TS
 A

N
D

G
R

AN
TS

 A
N

D
G

O
VE

R
N

M
EN

TA
L

TY
PE

 
EX

PE
N

SE
S

SE
R

VI
C

ES
C

O
N

TR
IB

U
TI

O
N

S
C

O
N

TR
IB

U
TI

O
N

S
AC

TI
VI

TI
ES

AC
TI

VI
TI

ES
TO

TA
L

FU
N

C
TI

O
N

S/
PR

O
G

R
AM

S
  G

ov
er

nm
en

ta
l a

ct
iv

iti
es

:
   

  G
en

er
al

 g
ov

er
nm

en
t

$
11

,1
47

,4
23

   
   

   
   

 
$

8,
94

4,
56

3
   

   
   

   
   

$
90

1
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

$
1,

11
2,

01
2

   
   

   
   

   
$

(1
,0

89
,9

47
)

   
   

   
   

  
$

-
$

(1
,0

89
,9

47
)

   
   

   
   

  
   

  J
ud

ic
ia

l
6,

64
0,

00
0

   
   

   
   

   
3,

26
5,

72
5

   
   

   
   

   
-

-
(3

,3
74

,2
75

)
   

   
   

   
  

-
(3

,3
74

,2
75

)
   

   
   

   
  

   
  P

ub
lic

 s
af

et
y

99
,7

69
,4

17
   

   
   

   
 

5,
86

8,
93

9
   

   
   

   
   

49
5,

26
6

   
   

   
   

   
   

84
1,

47
4

   
   

   
   

   
   

(9
2,

56
3,

73
8)

   
   

   
   

-
(9

2,
56

3,
73

8)
   

   
   

   
   

  P
hy

si
ca

l e
nv

iro
nm

en
t

2,
76

1,
98

6
   

   
   

   
   

72
,9

30
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

26
,9

85
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
(2

,6
62

,0
71

)
   

   
   

   
  

-
(2

,6
62

,0
71

)
   

   
   

   
  

   
  T

ra
ns

po
rta

tio
n

39
,2

20
,7

01
   

   
   

   
 

6,
19

9,
46

2
   

   
   

   
   

-
12

,2
18

,4
07

   
   

   
   

 
(2

0,
80

2,
83

2)
   

   
   

   
-

(2
0,

80
2,

83
2)

   
   

   
   

   
  H

ea
lth

 a
nd

 h
um

an
 s

er
vi

ce
s

82
,8

00
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

10
3,

77
4

   
   

   
   

   
   

13
4,

75
4

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
15

5,
72

8
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

15
5,

72
8

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  E

co
no

m
ic

 e
nv

iro
nm

en
t

20
,2

37
,5

13
   

   
   

   
 

1,
17

1,
61

5
   

   
   

   
   

14
,0

59
,6

40
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
(5

,0
06

,2
58

)
   

   
   

   
  

-
(5

,0
06

,2
58

)
   

   
   

   
  

   
  C

ul
tu

re
 a

nd
 re

cr
ea

tio
n

25
,1

24
,5

92
   

   
   

   
 

3,
64

3,
52

4
   

   
   

   
   

84
,6

14
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

1,
24

3,
63

8
   

   
   

   
   

(2
0,

15
2,

81
6)

   
   

   
   

-
(2

0,
15

2,
81

6)
   

   
   

   
   

  I
nt

er
es

t o
n 

lo
ng

-te
rm

 d
eb

t
8,

20
0,

85
1

   
   

   
   

   
-

-
-

(8
,2

00
,8

51
)

   
   

   
   

  
-

(8
,2

00
,8

51
)

   
   

   
   

  
   

   
  T

ot
al

 g
ov

er
nm

en
ta

l a
ct

iv
iti

es
21

3,
18

5,
28

3
   

   
   

  
29

,2
70

,5
32

   
   

   
   

 
14

,8
02

,1
60

   
   

   
   

 
15

,4
15

,5
31

   
   

   
   

 
(1

53
,6

97
,0

60
)

   
   

   
 

-
(1

53
,6

97
,0

60
)

   
   

   
 

  B
us

in
es

s-
ty

pe
 a

ct
iv

iti
es

:
   

  W
at

er
29

,0
99

,9
22

   
   

   
   

 
31

,4
39

,3
06

   
   

   
   

 
-

3,
77

3,
84

7
   

   
   

   
   

-
6,

11
3,

23
1

   
   

   
   

   
6,

11
3,

23
1

   
   

   
   

   
   

  S
ew

er
45

,2
99

,2
00

   
   

   
   

 
55

,8
64

,0
27

   
   

   
   

 
35

,3
04

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
11

,2
39

,9
43

   
   

   
   

 
-

21
,8

40
,0

74
   

   
   

   
 

21
,8

40
,0

74
   

   
   

   
 

   
  S

ol
id

 W
as

te
68

,9
10

,6
28

   
   

   
   

 
68

,6
80

,1
52

   
   

   
   

 
89

3,
11

3
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

-
66

2,
63

7
   

   
   

   
   

   
66

2,
63

7
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  O
th

er
 b

us
in

es
s-

ty
pe

 a
ct

iv
iti

es
6,

74
6,

88
6

   
   

   
   

   
6,

17
2,

29
1

   
   

   
   

   
-

-
-

(5
74

,5
95

)
   

   
   

   
   

  
(5

74
,5

95
)

   
   

   
   

   
  

   
   

  T
ot

al
 b

us
in

es
s-

ty
pe

 a
ct

iv
iti

es
15

0,
05

6,
63

6
   

   
   

  
16

2,
15

5,
77

6
   

   
   

  
92

8,
41

7
   

   
   

   
   

   
15

,0
13

,7
90

   
   

   
   

 
-

28
,0

41
,3

47
   

   
   

   
 

28
,0

41
,3

47
   

   
   

   
 

  T
ot

al
 g

ov
er

nm
en

t
$

36
3,

24
1,

91
9

   
   

   
  

$
19

1,
42

6,
30

8
   

   
   

  
$

15
,7

30
,5

77
   

   
   

   
 

$
30

,4
29

,3
21

   
   

   
   

 
(1

53
,6

97
,0

60
)

   
   

   
 

28
,0

41
,3

47
   

   
   

   
 

(1
25

,6
55

,7
13

)
   

   
   

 

G
EN

ER
A

L 
R

EV
EN

U
ES

:
   

  P
ro

pe
rty

 ta
xe

s
48

,8
73

,3
45

   
   

   
   

 
-

48
,8

73
,3

45
   

   
   

   
 

   
  S

al
es

 ta
xe

s
37

,9
98

,9
02

   
   

   
   

 
-

37
,9

98
,9

02
   

   
   

   
 

   
  

 
 

 
 U

til
ity

 T
ax

es
53

,2
04

,4
35

   
   

   
   

 
-

53
,2

04
,4

35
   

   
   

   
 

   
  O

th
er

 ta
xe

s
14

,2
41

,1
06

   
   

   
   

 
-

14
,2

41
,1

06
   

   
   

   
 

   
  I

nv
es

tm
en

t e
ar

ni
ng

s
10

,0
18

,7
83

   
   

   
   

 
6,

40
8,

94
0

   
   

   
   

   
16

,4
27

,7
23

   
   

   
   

 
TR

A
N

SF
ER

S
9,

55
4

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

(9
,5

54
)

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

  T
ot

al
 g

en
er

al
 re

ve
nu

es
 a

nd
 tr

an
sf

er
s

16
4,

34
6,

12
5

   
   

   
  

6,
39

9,
38

6
   

   
   

   
   

17
0,

74
5,

51
1

   
   

   
  

   
   

   
   

C
ha

ng
e 

in
 n

et
 a

ss
et

s
10

,6
49

,0
65

   
   

   
   

 
34

,4
40

,7
33

   
   

   
   

 
45

,0
89

,7
98

   
   

   
   

 

   
   

  P
rio

r p
er

io
d 

ad
ju

st
m

en
ts

4,
36

0,
51

8
   

   
   

   
   

(7
74

,8
45

)
   

   
   

   
   

  
3,

58
5,

67
3

   
   

   
   

   

N
et

 a
ss

et
s 

- b
eg

in
ni

ng
1,

52
0,

36
5,

57
7

   
   

  
61

0,
54

2,
10

3
   

   
   

  
2,

13
0,

90
7,

68
0

   
   

  

N
et

 a
ss

et
s 

- e
nd

in
g

$
1,

53
5,

37
5,

16
0

   
   

  
$

64
4,

20
7,

99
1

   
   

   
  

$
2,

17
9,

58
3,

15
1

   
   

  

Th
e 

no
te

s 
to

 th
e 

fin
an

ci
al

 s
ta

te
m

en
ts

  a
re

 a
n 

in
te

gr
al

 p
ar

t o
f t

hi
s 

st
at

em
en

t.

PR
O

G
R

AM
 R

EV
EN

U
ES

N
ET

 (E
XP

EN
SE

) R
EV

EN
U

E 
AN

D
 C

H
AN

G
ES

 IN
 N

ET
 A

SS
ET

S

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
SP

O
K

A
N

E
ST

A
TE

M
EN

T 
O

F 
A

C
TI

VI
TI

ES
FO

R
 T

H
E 

YE
A

R
 E

N
D

ED
 D

EC
EM

B
ER

 3
1,

 2
00

8

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
                                                                              Washington State Auditor's Office 
                                                                                                       42



OTHER TOTAL
GENERAL GOVERNMENTAL GOVERNMENTAL

0100 FUNDS FUNDS

ASSETS
Cash $ 8,624,686 $ 21,348,582 $ 29,973,268
Deposits with fiscal agents/trustees - 150,261 150,261
Equity in pooled investments 20,010,025 117,471,453 137,481,478
Receivables:
 Taxes receivable 10,948,115 3,062,471 14,010,586
 Accounts receivable 632,020 2,439,060 3,071,080
 Special assessments receivable - 3,643,885 3,643,885
 Interest receivable 216,390 390,382 606,772
 Interfund loan Receivable 989,088 - 989,088
Due from other funds 4,604,518 6,829,322 11,433,840
Due from other governments 31,474 3,495,761 3,527,235
Notes/contracts receivable - 28,841,078 28,841,078
Inventories - 1,065,400 1,065,400

Total assets $ 46,056,316 $ 188,737,655 $ 234,793,971

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
Liabilities:
 Warrants payable $ - $ 578,999 $ 578,999
 Accounts / vouchers payable 2,320,808 8,862,207 11,183,015
 Due to other funds 962,543 8,942,867 9,905,410
 Interfund Loan Payable - 989,088 989,088
 Due to other governments 2,772 661                           3,433
 Other accrued liabilities 4,610,235 1,745,685 6,355,920
 Other current liabilities 705,291 2,173,930 2,879,221
 Deferred revenue 1,926,576 5,012,632 6,939,208

       Total liabilities $ 10,528,225 $ 28,306,069 $ 38,834,294

Fund Balances:
 Reserved for:
  Inventories - 1,065,400 1,065,400
  Notes / contracts receivable - 28,841,078 28,841,078
  Capital replacement - 368,096 368,096

  Debt Service - 5,896,808 5,896,808
 Unreserved:
  Designated for contingencies 19,653,231 - 19,653,231
  Undesignated 15,874,860 - 15,874,860
  Undesignated, reported in nonmajor:
    Special Revenue funds - 34,682,766 34,682,766
    Capital Projects funds - 89,577,438 89,577,438
       Total fund balances 35,528,091 160,431,586 195,959,677

Total liabilities and fund balances $ 46,056,316 $ 188,737,655

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net assets are different because:

    Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources  and, therefore, are not reported in the funds. 1,474,226,475                  

    Other long-term assets are not available to pay for current period expenditures and, therefore, are deferred in the funds. 6,369,225                         

    Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of certain activities, such as fleet management 
      and insurance, to individual funds.  The assets and liabilities of internal service funds are included in governmental 
      activities in the statement of net assets. 42,325,488                       

    Some liabilities, including bonds payable, are not due and payable in the current reporting period and therefore are not 
      reported in the funds. (183,505,705)                    

Net assets of governmental activities 1,535,375,160                  

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

 
 BALANCE SHEET 

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
DECEMBER 31, 2008
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OTHER TOTAL
GENERAL GOVERNMENTAL GOVERNMENTAL

0100 FUNDS FUNDS
REVENUES
Taxes $ 119,037,869 $ 27,201,632 $ 146,239,501
Licenses and permits 5,714,959 536,322 6,251,281
Intergovernmental 5,402,870 32,568,278 37,971,148
Charges for services 12,411,907 9,112,018 21,523,925
Fines and forfeitures 3,033,578 575,042 3,608,620
Miscellaneous 3,772,720 10,273,860 14,046,580

       Total revenues 149,373,903 80,267,152 229,641,055

EXPENDITURES
Current:
  General government 20,665,625 1,599,408 22,265,033
  Security of persons and property 79,610,969 18,690,515 98,301,484
  Physical environment 7,710,411 - 7,710,411
  Transportation - 20,689,011 20,689,011
  Utilities and Environment - 1,216,161 1,216,161
  Economic environment 5,031,711 15,021,903 20,053,614
  Mental and physical health 82,800 - 82,800
  Culture and recreation 950,084 20,043,605 20,993,689
Capital outlay 5,069,495 34,637,331 39,706,826
Debt service:
  Principal - 13,729,443 13,729,443
  Interest 3,333 6,932,135 6,935,468

       Total expenditures 119,124,428 132,559,512 251,683,940

         Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
            (under) expenditures 30,249,475 (52,292,360) (22,042,885)

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Long-term debt issued - 43,900,000 43,900,000
Premium on debt issuance - 744,508 744,508
Sale of capital assets 136,798 649,710 786,508
Transfers in 1,928,085 46,627,087 48,555,172
Transfers out (33,360,587) (15,712,479) (49,073,066)

       Total other financing sources (uses) (31,295,704) 76,208,826 44,913,122

           Excess (deficiency) of revenues and other sources
             over (under) expenditures and other uses (1,046,229) 23,916,465 22,870,237

Other changes in  fund balances:
  Prior period adjustment 2,993,272 28,038,483 31,031,755

Fund balances - beginning 33,581,048 108,476,637 142,057,684

Fund balances - ending $ 35,528,091 $ 160,431,584 $ 195,959,676

The notes to the financial statements  are an integral part of this statement.

CITY OF SPOKANE
 STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES 

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2008
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Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds $ 22,870,237     

  Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are
    different because:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures.  However, in the statement
 of activities the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives and
 reported as depreciation expense.  This is the amount by which capital outlays ($43,690,236)
exceeded depreciation ($28,567,114) in the current period. 15,123,122     

In the statement of activities, only the loss on the sales of capital assets is reported,
 whereas in the governmental funds, the proceeds from the sales increase financial 
 resources.  Thus, the change in net assets differs from the change in fund balance by
 the cost of the capital assets sold. (1,184,372)      

Some revenues in the governmental funds that were not available until the current year were 
 reported in prior years in the statement of activities. 2,366,271       

Bond proceeds provide current financial resources to governmental funds, but
 issuing debt increases long-term liabilities in the statement of net assets.  
Repayment of bond principal is an expenditure in the governmental funds, but the 
 repayment reduces long-term liabilities in the statement of net assets.  This is
 the amount by which proceeds exceeded repayments. (30,915,065)    

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of current
 financial resources and therefore are not reported as expenditures in governmental 
 funds. (2,766,167)      

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of certain activities,
 such as fleet management and insurance, to individual funds.  The net gain of internal
 service funds is reported with governmental activities. 5,155,039       

Change in net assets of governmental activities $ 10,649,065     

The notes to the financial statements  are an integral part of this statement.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2008

CITY OF SPOKANE
RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES

TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
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Variance with
Final Budget -

Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Taxes $ 116,025,117 $ 119,025,117 $ 119,037,869 $ 12,752
Licenses and permits 5,459,465 5,459,465 5,714,959 255,494
Intergovernmental 4,630,687 5,730,358 5,402,870 (327,488)
Charges for services 12,175,751 12,486,486 12,411,907 (74,579)
Fines and forfeitures 3,472,850 4,089,901 3,033,578 (1,056,323)
Miscellaneous 3,277,366 3,319,410 3,772,720 453,310

       Total revenues 145,041,236          150,110,737          149,373,903 (736,834)              

EXPENDITURES
Current:
  General government 22,084,595            22,642,516            20,665,625 1,976,891
  Security of persons and property 78,915,898            79,137,053            79,610,969 (473,916)
  Physical environment 8,395,857              8,659,284              7,710,411 948,873
  Economic environment 5,636,731              6,372,690              5,031,711 1,340,979
  Mental and physical health 105,080                 105,080                 82,800 22,280
  Culture and recreation 1,015,349              1,021,143              950,084 71,059
Capital outlay 4,564,614              6,437,363              5,069,495 1,367,868
Debt service:
  Interest 10,000                   10,000                   3,333 6,667

       Total expenditures 120,728,124          124,385,129          119,124,428 5,260,701            

         Excess revenues over expenditures 24,313,112            25,725,608            30,249,475 4,523,867            

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Sale of capital assets 2,500                     2,500                     136,798 134,298
Transfers in 155,000                 155,000                 1,928,085 1,773,085
Transfers out (30,865,962)           (33,899,137)           (33,360,587) 538,550

       Total other financing sources (uses) (30,708,462)           (33,741,637)           (31,295,704) 2,445,933            

           Excess (deficiency) of revenues and other sources
             over (under) expenditures and other uses (6,395,350)             (8,016,029)             (1,046,229) 6,969,800            

Other changes in fund balance
  Prior Period Adjustment - - 2,993,272 -

Fund balances - beginning 33,581,048 33,581,048 33,581,048 -

Fund balances - ending $ 27,185,698 $ 25,565,019 $ 35,528,091 $ 6,969,800

The notes to the financial statements  are an integral part of this statement.

Budgeted Amounts

BUDGET AND ACTUAL

CITY OF SPOKANE

GENERAL FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2008

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES 
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Governmental
Activities - 

OTHER Internal 
SOLID ENTERPRISE Service

WATER SEWER WASTE FUNDS TOTAL Funds
ASSETS
Current assets:
  Cash and equivalents   $ 1,506,111   $ 8,586,147   $ 3,678,710   $ 331,836   $ 14,102,804   $ 6,129,133
  Deposits with fiscal agents / trustees 50,727 - - - 50,727 828,362
  Equity in pooled investments 37,757,903 35,241,721 52,012,408 2,136,963 127,148,995 40,521,542
  Receivables:
    Accounts receivable 2,932,640 12,491,220 6,427,540 56,930 21,908,330 309,240
    Interest receivable 122,385 110,038 171,437 4,756 408,616 125,906
  Due from other funds 1,058,085 272,979 110,572 115,022 1,556,658 3,003,108
  Due from other governmental units - 3,114,796 898,285 - 4,013,081 -
  Inventories 2,761,543 153,814 - 36,013 2,951,370 1,022,076
  Prepayments - - - - - 56,290

      Total current assets 46,189,394 59,970,715 63,298,952 2,681,520 172,140,581 51,995,657

Restricted assets:
  Revenue bond reserves:
    Cash and equivalents - - 1,512,255 - 1,512,255 -
  Equity in pooled investments - - 17,702,312 681,348 18,383,660 -
    Interest receivable - - 55,277 4,952 60,229 -
  Other restricted assets: -
    Investments - - 2,423,864 - 2,423,864 -
    Customer deposits - investments 647,571 - - - 647,571 -

  Total restricted assets 647,571 - 21,693,708 686,300 23,027,579 -

Capital assets:
  Land 1,893,093 8,344,701 5,094,715 4,695,907 20,028,416 -
  Property, plant and equipment 32,066,249 191,131,105 193,617,230 11,162,716 427,977,300 47,992,143
  Infrastructure 159,364,393 192,024,065 - - 351,388,458
  Construction in progress 4,905,665 22,459,397 - 2,849,760 30,214,822 -
    Less accumulated depreciation (63,128,320) (131,331,756) (110,904,935) (5,274,450) (310,639,461) (31,876,428)

  Total capital assets 135,101,080 282,627,512 87,807,010 13,433,933 518,969,535 16,115,715

Other noncurrent assets:
  Other noncurrent assets and deferred charges - 2,612,532 6,412,259 - 9,024,791 -

      Total noncurrent assets - 2,612,532 6,412,259 - 9,024,791 -

      Total assets   $ 181,938,045   $ 345,210,759   $ 179,211,929   $ 16,801,753   $ 723,162,486   $ 68,111,372

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

CITY OF SPOKANE
 STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS

PROPRIETARY FUNDS
DECEMBER 31, 2008

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds
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Governmental
Activities - 

OTHER Internal 
SOLID ENTERPRISE Service

WATER SEWER WASTE FUNDS TOTAL Funds
LIABILITIES 
Current liabilities:
  Accounts/vouchers payable   $ 317,718   $ 2,046,854   $ 1,641,956   $ 50,584   $ 4,057,112   $ 1,374,489
  Claims and judgements payable - - - - - 12,215,285
  Compensated absences 43,710 43,851 40,496 13,274 141,331 78,794
  Due to other funds 750,839 3,472,875 902,453 310,418 5,436,585 651,609
  Due to other governmental units 928,989 431,491 212,442 - 1,572,922 -
  Accrued interest payable 64,348 - - - 64,348 -
  Other accrued liabilities 661,382 627,863 624,041 173,727 2,087,013 587,757
  Other current liabilities - - - 143,873 143,873 13,461
  Notes and leases payable 10,493 3,000 - - 13,493 22,409

    Total current liabilities 2,777,479 6,625,934 3,421,388 691,876 13,516,677 14,943,804

Current liabilities payable from restricted assets:
  Revenue bonds payable - - 14,950,000 415,000 15,365,000 -
  Accrued interest payable - 21,612 548,128 11,781 581,521 -
  Deposits and other payables 647,571 20,388 212,428 - 880,387 -

    Total current liabilities payable 
         from restricted assets 647,571 42,000 15,710,556 426,781 16,826,908 -

Noncurrent liabilities:
  Revenue bonds payable - - 24,178,673 1,835,468 26,014,141 -
  General obligation bonds payable - - - 453,713 453,713 -
  Due to other governmental units 8,771,194 3,774,659 - - 12,545,853 -
  Unearned revenue - 1,236,055 - - 1,236,055 -
  Compensated absences 837,073 647,379 516,547 209,573 2,210,572 583,197
  Accrued landfill liability - - 2,050,817 - 2,050,817 -
  Accrued landfill postclosure liability - - 14,297,017 - 14,297,017
  Other noncurrent liabilities 47,922 13,703 - - 61,625 -

    Total noncurrent liabilities 9,656,189 5,671,796 41,043,054 2,498,754 58,869,793 583,197

      Total liabilities 13,081,239 12,339,730 60,174,998 3,617,411 89,213,378 15,527,001

NET ASSETS
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 125,290,149 278,404,659 60,079,837 11,290,847 475,065,492 16,093,306
Restricted for debt service - - 7,868,344 125,206 7,993,550 -
Restricted for solid waste closure - - 2,211,435 - 2,211,435 -
Unrestricted 43,566,657 54,466,370 48,877,315 1,768,289 148,678,631 36,491,065

Total net assets   $ 168,856,806   $ 332,871,029   $ 119,036,931   $ 13,184,342 633,949,108   $ 52,584,371

Adjustment to reflect the consolidation of internal service fund
  activities related to enterprise funds 10,258,883

Net assets of business-type activities   $ 644,207,991

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

 STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
DECEMBER 31, 2008

(CONTINUED)

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds
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Governmental
Activities - 

OTHER Internal 
SOLID ENTERPRISE Service

WATER SEWER WASTE FUNDS TOTAL Funds

OPERATING REVENUES
Charges for goods and services $ 30,908,543 $ 56,180,043 $ 70,160,626 $ 6,160,939 $ 163,410,151 $ 30,478,375
Miscellaneous revenues - - - 7,746 7,746 35,987,076
Other operating revenues 21,383 156,053 554,243 - 731,679 7,958

  Total operating revenues 30,929,926 56,336,096 70,714,869 6,168,685 164,149,576 66,473,409

OPERATING EXPENSES
Operations 10,168,252 13,579,737 40,210,451 4,933,464 68,891,904 22,417,905
Maintenance 6,543,252 8,267,479 3,457,697 1,036,085 19,304,513 -
General and administration 1,790,014 2,063,003 3,990,131 310,695 8,153,843 4,242,853
Taxes 7,571,764 13,493,077 7,685,989 19,448 28,770,278 -
Risk transfer payments - - - - - 9,699,347
Claims processing - - - - - 1,768,544
Payments to claimants and beneficiaries - - - - - 19,313,349
Depreciation and amortization 3,498,552 8,565,977 8,552,041 362,924 20,979,494 3,634,200
Amortization of landfill closure costs - - 4,079,394 - 4,079,394 -

  Total operating expenses 29,571,834 45,969,273 67,975,703 6,662,616 150,179,426 61,076,198

      Operating income 1,358,092 10,366,823 2,739,166 (493,931) 13,970,150 5,397,211

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Interest income 1,647,185 1,483,819 3,111,925 166,006 6,408,935 1,635,372
LID losses and engineering expenses - (964,284) - - (964,284) -
Revenues from jobbing and contract work 1,041,942 242,364 - - 1,284,306 -
Expenses from jobbing and contract work (1,129,866) - - - (1,129,866) -
Gain (loss) on disposition of fixed assets 53,557 18,825 142,736 - 215,118 149,340
Interest expense (138,248) (78,090) (2,080,925) (185,507) (2,482,770) (1,491)
Rent and lease income 543,747 - 142,071 - 685,818 -
Amortization - other long term assets - - (2,090,179) - (2,090,179) -
Other nonoperating revenue - 281,479 1,450,412 3,606 1,735,497 79,706
Other nonoperating expense - (15,149) (786,644) - (801,793) (26,986)

  Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 2,018,317 968,964 (110,604) (15,895) 2,860,782 1,835,941

      Income (loss) before contributions and transfers 3,376,409 11,335,787 2,628,562 (509,826) 16,830,932 7,233,152

Capital contributions 3,773,847 11,239,943 - - 15,013,790
Transfers in - 20,000 - 75,000 95,000 884,158
Transfers out (17,180) (47,012) - (40,362) (104,554) (356,711)

      Change in net assets 7,133,076 22,548,718 2,628,562 (475,188) 31,835,168 7,760,599

Prior period adjustment 74,250 (814,889) - (34,207) (774,846) 496,603

Total net assets - beginning 161,649,480 311,137,200 116,408,369 13,693,737 44,327,169

Total net assets - ending $ 168,856,806 $ 332,871,029 $ 119,036,931 $ 13,184,342 $ 52,584,371

Adjustment to reflect the consolidation of internal service fund
  activities related to enterprise funds 2,605,560

Change in net assets of business-type activities
after adjustment for prior period items $ 33,665,882

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds

CITY OF SPOKANE
 STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN FUND NET ASSETS

PROPRIETARY FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2008
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Governmental
Activities - 

OTHER Internal 
SOLID ENTERPRISE Service

WATER SEWER WASTE FUNDS TOTAL Funds

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
 Receipts from customers and users $ 30,601,916        $ 58,975,248        $ 73,185,597        $ 6,141,788               $ 168,904,549           $ 578,398                  
 Receipts from interfund services provided 1,280,678          328,157             - - 1,608,835               65,976,698             
 Payments to suppliers and for services (3,297,604)         (9,776,379)         (28,264,772)       (877,810)                (42,216,565)           (42,514,909)           
 Payments to employees (10,975,704)       (11,055,838)       (12,377,964)       (1,527,046)             (35,936,552)           (10,159,355)           
 Payments for taxes - city and state (7,571,764)         (13,493,077)       (7,699,724)         (2,840,147)             (31,604,712)           (102,551)                
 Payments for interfund services used (5,719,059)         (7,874,065)         (9,282,504)         (966,271)                (23,841,899)           (4,743,201)             
 Other receipts  / payments - 239,417             - 5,865                      245,282                  276                         

  Net cash provided (used)  by operating activities 4,318,463          17,343,463        15,560,633        (63,621)                  37,158,938             9,035,356               

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING
  ACTIVITIES
 Operating grants received - - 110,561             - 110,561                  -
 Transfers in (out) (17,180)              (27,012)              - 75,777                    31,585                    142,925                  

  Net cash provided (used) by noncapital and related
   financing activities (17,180)              (27,012)              110,561             75,777                    142,146                  142,925                  

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED 
  FINANCING ACTIVITIES
 Proceeds from disposal of capital assets 74,156               - 145,935             - 220,091                  308,107                  
 Proceeds from loans, notes, and lease purchase payable 129,674             901,000             - - 1,030,674               -
 Capital grants and  contributions received 968,628             1,356,268          - - 2,324,896               -
 Insurance proceeds from loss of capital asset - -                         - - -                             -
 Acquisition and construction of capital assets (6,129,036)         (19,748,158)       (1,561,847)         (1,486,856)             (28,925,897)           (4,269,801)             

  Principal paid on revenue bonds - - (11,215,000)       (368,972)                (11,583,972)           -
  Principal paid on intergovernmental loans and
    lease-purchase agreements (964,064)            (430,452)            - - (1,394,516)             (21,444)                  
  Interest paid on revenue bonds - - (2,534,099)         (164,462)                (2,698,561)             -
  Interest paid on general obligation bonds - - - (22,691)                  (22,691)                  -
  Interest paid on intergovernmental loans (138,248)            (56,478)              - - (194,726)                -
  Interest paid on notes and capital leases - - - - - (1,491)                    
  County landfill closure costs paid - - (255,115)            - (255,115)                -
  Transfers in (out) - -                         - - -                             384,522                  

  Net cash provided (used) by capital and related 
   financing activities (6,058,890)         (17,977,820)       (15,420,126)       (2,042,981)             (41,499,817)           (3,600,107)             

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
 Purchase of investments (6,760,691)         (1,435,505)         (19,789,054)       (3,773,081)             (31,758,331)           (17,726,879)           
 Proceeds from sales and maturities of investments 6,980,000          -                         14,018,832        5,787,222               26,786,054             11,540,000             
 Interest received 1,604,064          1,435,505          2,997,830          177,193                  6,214,592               1,554,281               

  Net cash provided (used) by investing activities 1,823,373          -                         (2,772,392)         2,191,334               1,242,315               (4,632,598)             

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 65,766               (661,369)            (2,521,324)         160,509                  (2,956,418)             945,576                  

Cash and cash equivalents, January 1 1,440,345          9,247,516          7,712,289          171,327                  18,571,477             5,183,557               

Cash and cash equivalents, December 31 $ 1,506,111          $ 8,586,147          $ 5,190,965          $ 331,836                  $ 15,615,059             $ 6,129,133               

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

Continued on next page

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds
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Governmental
Activities - 

OTHER Internal 
SOLID ENTERPRISE Service

WATER SEWER WASTE FUNDS TOTAL Funds

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net cash
 provided (used) by operating activities:
 Operating income (loss) $ 1,358,092          $ 10,366,823        $ 2,739,166          $ (493,931)                $ 13,970,150             $ 5,397,211               
 Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to
  net cash provided (used) by operating activities:
  Depreciation and amortization 3,498,552          8,565,977          8,552,041          362,924                  20,979,494             3,634,200               
  Amortization of landfill closure costs - - 4,079,394          - 4,079,394               -
  Other revenues 1,572,381          574,941             699,365             - 2,846,687               341,507                  
  Other expenses (1,129,866)         (979,434)            (210,313)            (34,207)                  (2,353,820)             -
  (Increase) decrease in deposits with fiscal agents (152)                   - - - (152)                       (22,116)                  
  (Increase) decrease in accounts receivable (296,450)            (603,395)            298,780             (5,840)                    (606,905)                70,588                    
  (Increase) decrease in due from other funds (320,992)            1,145,969          1,479,196          (2,590)                    2,301,583               (203,983)                
  (Increase) decrease in due from other governments - 1,395,811          676                    - 1,396,487               -
  (Increase) decrease in inventories (371,847)            (39,363)              - (2,158)                    (413,368)                74,668                    
  (Increase) decrease in prepayments - - - - - 15,138                    
  (Increase) decrease in other long-term assets - - (12,079)              - (12,079)                  -
  Increase (decrease) in accounts/vouchers payable (191,093)            (3,628,015)         (819,731)            3,431                      (4,635,408)             (197,206)                
  Increase (decrease) in due to other funds (25,716)              533,668             (1,407,747)         90,473                    (809,322)                (1,088,231)             
  Increase (decrease) in notes payable - (3,001)                - - (3,001)                    -
  Increase (decrease) in claims and judgements payable - - - - - 822,712                  
  Increase (decrease) in other accrued liabilities 238,028             194,601             147,288             (3,101)                    576,816                  188,568                  
  Increase (decrease) in other current liabilities                 (4,554) (201,332)            -                    (11,274) (217,160)                                      2,190 
  Increase (decrease) in deposits payable (51,071)              54                      6,945                 - (44,072)                  -
  Increase (decrease) in employee leave benefits payable 43,151               23,159               7,652                 32,652                    106,614                  (34,661)                  
  Increase (decrease) in other long-term liabilities - (3,000)                - - (3,000)                    34,771                    

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities $ 4,318,463          $ 17,343,463        $ 15,560,633        $ (63,621)                  $ 37,158,938             $ 9,035,356               

Noncash investing, capital and financing 
 activities:
  Assets contributed  from developers and customers $ 2,805,219 $ 4,102,288 $ - $ - $ 6,907,507               $ -

Total of noncash activities $ 2,805,219 $ 4,102,288 $ - $ - $ 6,907,507               $ -

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds

CITY OF SPOKANE
 STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

PROPRIETARY FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2008
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CITY OF SPOKANE
STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET ASSETS

FIDUCIARY FUNDS
DECEMBER 31, 2008

FINCH MEMORIAL
PENSION ARBORETUM 

TRUST PRIVATE-PURPOSE AGENCY
FUNDS TRUST FUND FUNDS

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 683,166 $ 2,023 $ 214,293
Equity in pooled investments 33,569,710 - -
  Deposits with Fiscal Agents / Trustees - - 10,000
Receivables:
  Interest and dividends 676,650 - -
  Taxes 906,814 - -
  Other receivables - - -
    Total receivables 1,583,464 - -
Investments, at fair value:
  U.S. Fixed Income 43,682,428 - -
  U.S. Equities 46,709,905 - -
  Real Estate Investment Trusts 7,271,985
  International Stocks 36,331,474 - -
  Alternatives 27,527,968 - -
    Total investments 161,523,760 - -

      Total assets $ 197,360,100 $ 2,023 $ 224,293

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable $ 232,487 $ 1,654 $ 2,343
Matured long-term obligations - - 10,000
Due to other governmental units - - 204,636
Other accrued liabilities 22,986 - 3,543
Other current liabilities 27,086 - 3,771
Employee leave benefits 16,124 - -

      Total liabilities 298,683 $ 1,654 $ 224,293

NET ASSETS  
Held in trust for pension benefits and other purposes $ 197,061,417 $ 369

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF SPOKANE
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET ASSETS

FIDUCIARY FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2008

FINCH MEMORIAL
PENSION ARBORETUM 

TRUST PRIVATE-PURPOSE
FUNDS TRUST FUND

ADDITIONS
Contributions:
  Employer $ 13,471,159 $ -
  Plan members 4,882,622 -
 Intergovernmental revenue 231,146 -
 Miscellaneous revenue 6,652 -
  Private donations - 24,402
    Total contributions 18,591,579 24,402

Investment earnings:
  Net (decrease) in fair value of investments (64,430,345) -
  Interest and Dividends 6,384,022 -
    Total investment earnings (loss) (58,046,323) -
  Less: investment expense 825,415                    -
        Net investment earnings (loss) (58,871,738)              -

        Total additions (40,280,159) 24,402

DEDUCTIONS
Benefits 17,622,969 -
Medical and dental benefits 5,047,983 -
Refunds of contributions 370,947 -
Medical and dental administration 455,294 -
Administrative expenses 708,205 -
Arboretum maintenance - 24,148

        Total deductions 24,205,398 24,148

            Change in net assets (64,485,557) 254

Net assets - beginning of the year 261,546,974             115                        

Net assets - end of the year $ 197,061,417 $ 369

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF SPOKANE EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM
SCHEDULE OF FUNDING PROGRESS

(rounded to thousands)

Actuarial Actuarial Unfunded AAL as a 
Valuation Value of Actuarial Accrued Funded AAL Covered Percentage of

Date Assets (a) Liability (AAL) (b) Ratio (b) - (a) Payroll Covered Payroll

12/31/08 193,314$           295,223$           65.48% 101,909$         74,183$             137.38%
12/31/07 242,615             272,202             89.13% 29,587             69,262               42.72%
12/31/06 231,576             272,818             84.88% 41,241             67,751               60.87%
12/31/05 216,039             259,792             83.16% 43,752             64,062               68.30%
12/31/04 209,218             240,260             87.08% 31,042             64,252               48.31%
12/31/03 195,723             227,663             85.97% 31,939             61,381               52.03%

CITY OF SPOKANE EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM
SCHEDULE OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS

(rounded to thousands)

 Fiscal Year
Ended 

 Annual
Required

Contribtuion 

 Actual
Employer

Contribution 
 Percentage of

ARC Contributed 

12/31/08 8,827$             4,875$             55.23%
12/31/07 5,743               4,518               78.68%
12/31/06 6,231               4,287               68.81%
12/31/05 6,016               4,149               68.97%
12/31/04 5,867               4,096               69.81%
12/31/03 4,547               4,017               88.35%
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CITY OF SPOKANE FIREFIGHTERS' PENSION FUND
SCHEDULE OF FUNDING PROGRESS

(rounded to thousands)

Actuarial Actuarial Unfunded AAL as a 
Valuation Value of Actuarial Accrued Funded AAL Covered Percentage of

Date Assets (a) Liability (AAL) (b) Ratio (b) - (a) Payroll Covered Payroll

01/01/09 15,259$             33,364$             46% 18,105$           217$                  8,343%
01/01/07 13,325               32,728               41% 19,403             380 5,106%
01/01/06 12,480               27,565               45% 15,085             N/A N/A
01/01/05 12,960               15,590               83% 2,630               N/A N/A
01/01/04 13,080               10,494               125% (2,586)              N/A N/A
01/01/03 11,963               23,999               50% 12,036             N/A N/A

CITY OF SPOKANE FIREFIGHTERS' PENSION FUND
SCHEDULE OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS

(rounded to thousands)

Fiscal Actual
Year Employer Contribution Percentage of

Ending Contributions (ARC) ARC Contributed

12/31/08 1,360$             1,262$             108%
12/31/07 2,082               1,262               165%
12/31/06 1,948               1,948               100%
12/31/05 1,256               1,256               100%
12/31/04 918                  - N/A
12/31/03 2,165               2,165               100%

Annual Required
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CITY OF SPOKANE POLICE PENSION FUND
SCHEDULE OF FUNDING PROGRESS

(rounded to thousands)

Actuarial Actuarial Unfunded AAL as a 
Valuation Value of Actuarial Accrued Funded AAL Covered Percentage of

Date Assets (a) Liability (AAL) (b) Ratio (b) - (a) Payroll Covered Payroll

01/01/08 929$                  18,350$             5% 17,421$           136                    12,810%
01/01/07 659                    16,480               4% 15,821             176                    8,989%
01/01/06 787                    14,332               5% 13,545             N/A N/A
01/01/05 963                    6,538 15% 5,575 N/A N/A
01/01/04             -      7,174                 0% 7,174               N/A N/A
01/01/03 - 16,239               0% 16,239             N/A N/A

CITY OF SPOKANE POLICE PENSION FUND
SCHEDULE OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS

(rounded to thousands)

Fiscal Actual
Year Employer Contribution Percentage of

Ending Contributions (ARC) ARC Contributed

12/31/08 1,108$             1,029$             108%
12/31/07 1,450               1,029               141%
12/31/06 886                  886                  100%
12/31/05 983                  983                  100%
12/31/04 1,524               1,524               100%
12/31/03 966                  1,140               85%

Annual Required
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CITY OF SPOKANE 

NOTES TO THE REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
PENSION PLANS 

DECEMBER 31, 2008 
 
 
 
The information presented in the required supplementary schedules was determined as 
part of the actuarial valuations at the dates indicated.  The actuarial methods and 
significant assumptions used in these valuations are available in the publicly available 
actuary reports for the three pension plans.  These reports may be obtained by writing to 
the Spokane Employees’ Retirement System, City Hall, 808 West Spokane Falls Blvd, 
Spokane, Washington, 99201 or by calling (509) 625-6330.  
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1 2 3 4 6

Federal Agency Federal Program CFDA Other I.D. From Foot-

Name/Pass- Name Number Number Pass- From note

Through Agency Through Direct Total Ref.

Name Awards Awards

U.S. Department of Commerce Economic Adjustment Assistance 11.307 N/A 27,768 27,768

U.S. Department of Defense Community Base Reuse Plans 12.612 CL0702-07-01 23,154 23,154

U. S. Department of Housing Community Development Block 14.218 B06-MC-530006 1,141,984 3, 7

and Urban Development Grants/Entitlement Grants B07-MC-530006 3,364,913  

Program Income 1,876,001

Subtotal 6,382,898 6,382,898

U. S. Department of Housing Emergency Shelter Grants 14.231 S07-MC-530002 125,703 7

and Urban Development Program S08-MC-530002 58,273

Subtotal 183,976 183,976

U. S. Department of Housing Supportive Housing Program 14.235 N/A 94,353 7

and Urban Development N/A 52,543

N/A 1,051,398

N/A 490,609

Subtotal 1,688,903 1,688,903

U. S. Department of Housing Shelter Plus Care 14.238 N/A 78,607 7

and Urban Development N/A 63,063

N/A 65,904

N/A 62,944

N/A 103,737

Subtotal 374,255 374,255

U. S. Department of Housing Home Investment Partnerships 14.239 M05-MC-530201 379,070 3, 7

and Urban Development Program M06-MC-530201 1,069,414

Program Income 261,796

Subtotal 1,710,280 1,710,280

U. S. Department of Housing Lead-Based Paint Hazard Control 14.900 WA LHB 0279-04 526,300

and Urban Development in Privately-Owned Housing Program Income 18,054

Subtotal 544,354 544,354

U.S. Department of the Interior / Historic Preservation Fund 15.904 FY07-61017-006 9,000

pass-through from WA State Grants-In-Aid FY08-61018-006 5,308

Department of Archaeology & 

Historic Preservation Subtotal 14,308 14,308

U.S. Dept of the Interior Save America's Treasures 15.929 N/A 1,259 1,259

U.S. Department of Justice Enhanced Training and Services 16.528 N/A 1,623 1,623

to End Violence & Abuse 

of Women Later in Life   
U.S. Department of Justice  Edward Byrne Memorial State and 16.580 N/A 47,716 47,716

Local Law Enforcement Assistance 

Discretionary Grants Program   

U.S. Department of Justice Bulletproof Vest Partnership Program 16.607 N/A 25,218 25,218

U.S. Department of Justice Public Safety Partnership & 16.710 N/A 400,579 7

Community Policing Grants N/A 3,000

N/A 200,823

Subtotal 604,402 604,402

Expenditures

 MCAG NO. 0724                                                    CITY OF SPOKANE                                                          Schedule 16
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS

For The Year Ended December 31, 2008

5

The accompanying notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards are an integral part of this Schedule.
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1 2 3 4 6

Federal Agency Federal Program CFDA Other I.D. From Foot-

Name/Pass- Name Number Number Pass- From note

Through Agency Through Direct Total Ref.

Name Awards Awards

Expenditures

 MCAG NO. 0724                                                    CITY OF SPOKANE                                                          Schedule 16
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS

For The Year Ended December 31, 2008

5

U.S. Department of Justice Edward Byrne Memorial Justice 16.738 N/A 36,915 7

Assistance Grant N/A 18,462

N/A 40,206

Subtotal 95,583 95,583

U.S. Department of Justice  Anti-Gang Initiative 16.744 N/A 6,476 6,476
U.S. Department of Labor / WIA Adult Program 17.258 6112-7108 20,000 7

pass-through from WA State 6112-7107 92,949

Employment Security 6112-1108 802,432

Department 6112-7307 141,149

6112-1308 172,061

6112-1307 732

6112-7308 178,655

N/A 5,000

N/A 29,473

N/A 19,500

Subtotal 1,461,951 1,461,951
U.S. Department of Labor / WIA Youth Activities 17.259 6112-7007 935,468 7

pass-through from WA State   6112-7008 245,703

Employment Security    

Department Subtotal 1,181,171 1,181,171
U.S. Department of Labor /  WIA Dislocated Workers 17.260 6112-7207 97,940 7

pass-through from WA State 6112-1208 753,010

Employment Security 6112-7208 187,799

Department Subtotal 1,038,749 1,038,749
U.S. Department of Labor / Incentive Grants - WIA Section 503 17.267 6112-7505-21 18,491 7

pass-through from WA State 6112-7626-06 8,838

Employment Security 6112-7626-10 105,897  

Department 6112-7627-08 43,617

6112-7626-12 55,751

6112-7906-02 22,977

Subtotal 255,571 255,571
U.S. Department of Highway Planning and Construction 20.205 STPH-3867(001) 107,167

Transportation / pass-through BRM 3999(009) 79,912

from WA State Department of SPTE-1220021 272,712

Transportation (continued on next page) P-STPE-TA96(339) 10,174

P-STPE-TA96(340) 511

STPD 3850(001) 44,385

STPUL-3846(004) 1,765,431

STPD 3850(005) 4,391

STPUL-4001 (001) 153,353

CM-9932(034) 1,121,557

CM-0002(261) 85

CM-3850(004) 977  

STPD 3850(006) 6,727

The accompanying notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards are an integral part of this Schedule.
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Federal Agency Federal Program CFDA Other I.D. From Foot-

Name/Pass- Name Number Number Pass- From note

Through Agency Through Direct Total Ref.

Name Awards Awards

Expenditures
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U.S. Department of Highway Planning and Construction 20.205 CM-3850(002) 42,427

Transportation / pass-through CM-3850(003) 451,570

from WA State Department of STPUL-3850(007) 296,201

Transportation (continued from previous page) STPH 3936(002) 47,523

CM-0395(084) 15

CM-0291(022) 15

STPUL 3856(001) 176,318

STPUL 3881(004) 124,018

STPH 3900(003) 33,362

STPUL 0290(021) 93

HLP-1220(020) 86,215

Subtotal 4,825,139 4,825,139

U.S. Department of Transportation National Motor Carrier Safety 20.218 N/A 64,000 64,000

U.S. Department of Transportation/ Occupant Protection 20.602 N/A 4,106

pass-through from WA State N/A 3,942

Traffic Safety Commission Subtotal 8,048 8,048

National Foundation on the Arts Promotion of the Arts-Grant to 45.024 N/A 9,000 9,000

and the Humanities / pass-through Organizations and Individuals

from Arts Midwest     

Environmental Protection Agency Brownfields Assessment & Cleanup 66.818 N/A 506 506

Coop Agreements

U.S. Dept of Education / passed Safe & Drug-Free Schools & 84.186 07-04 3,750

through from WA State Office of Communities State Grants 08-04 1,954

Community Trade & Economic 

Development Subtotal 5,704 5,704

U.S. Dept of Health & Human Services Special Programs for the Aging 93.044 07-08:58,41:12(1) 723 723

/ passed through Aging & Long Title III, Part B_Grants for 

Term Care of Eastern Washington Supportive Services & Senior Center     

U.S. Dept of Health & Human Services Special Programs for the Aging 93.045 N/A 7,738 7,738

/ passed through from WA State Title III, Part C Nutrition Services

Dept of Social & Health Services     

U.S. Dept of Health & Human Services Centers for Disease Control and 93.283 GCA-5499 3,350 3,350

/ passed through from WA State Prevention -Investigations and 

 Dept of Transportation Technical Assistance   

U. S. Department of Homeland Security Homeland Security Grant Program 97.067 N/A 28,514 4

/ pass-through Spokane County N/A 39,000

Dept of Emergency Management Subtotal 67,514 67,514

U. S. Department of Homeland Security Metropolitan Medical Response 97.071 N/A 42,833 42,833 4

/ pass-through Spokane County System

Dept of Emergency Management   

Department of Homeland Security Law Enforcement Terrorism 97.074 N/A 298,263 298,263

Prevention Program (LETPP)

8,921,799 12,080,634 21,002,433

The accompanying notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards are an integral part of this Schedule.

                    Total Federal Awards Expended
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 CITY OF SPOKANE, WASHINGTON 
 NOTES TO THE SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS  
 JANUARY 1, 2008 THROUGH DECEMBER 31, 2008 
 
 
NOTE 1 - BASIS OF ACCOUNTING 
 
 This schedule is prepared on the same basis of accounting as the City's financial statements.  The 

City uses the modified accrual basis of accounting for all governmental funds.  The accrual basis of 
accounting is used for all proprietary, non-expendable trust and pension trust funds. 

 
NOTE 2 - PROGRAM COSTS 
 
 The amounts shown as current year expenditures represent only the Federal portion of the program 

costs.  Entire program costs, including the City's portion, may be more than shown. 
 
NOTE 3 - REVOLVING LOAN - PROGRAM INCOME 
 
 The City of Spokane has a revolving loan program for low-income housing. Under this federal 

program, repayments to the City are considered program revenues (income) and loans of such funds 
to eligible recipients are considered expenditures.  The amount of loan funds disbursed to program 
participants for the year for the HOME program was $ 1,175,210, and for the Community 
Development Block Grants was $ 1,851,105. These amounts are presented in this schedule.  The 
amount of principal and interest received in loan repayments for the year for the HOME program was 
$ 227,586 ($261,874 less $34,288 remitted to HUD for covenant restrictions), and for the Community 
Development Block Grants was $ 1,266,823. 

 
NOTE 4 – NONCASH AWARDS – EQUIPMENT  
 

The City received equipment that was purchased with federal Homeland Security funds by the state 
of Washington.  The amount reported on the schedule is the value of the property on the date it was 
received by the City and priced by Homeland Security.      

  
NOTE 5 – INDIRECT COST RATE 
 

The City did not use an indirect cost rate.     
 
NOTE 6 – INCOME AFTER THE GRANT PERIOD 
 
             The City leases property to a private entity that was originally purchased with Federal Highway           

Planning and Construction dollars.  As the grant period has ended there is no reference to these        
funds on the SEFA but the City is required to restrict these funds for activities eligible for funding        
under title 23 of the United States Code. The income received was $120,000; the                                
expenditures for maintenance were $57,104 for total restricted revenue of $62,896. 
 

NOTE 7 – AMOUNTS AWARDED TO SUBRECIPIENTS 
 

Included in the total amount expended for the City of Spokane is $7,041,260 that was passed                          
through to subrecipients that administered their own projects.  These subrecipients include the                        
following:         

CDBG 1,150,010  
Emergency Shelter 183,975  
Home 542,773  
Human Services 1,901,536  
Public Safety  134,976  
Workforce Development 3,127,990  

 7,041,260  
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(SAO FACTS.DOC - Rev. 06/09) 

ABOUT THE STATE AUDITOR'S OFFICE                   
 
 
The State Auditor's Office is established in the state's Constitution and is part of the executive 
branch of state government.  The State Auditor is elected by the citizens of Washington and serves 
four-year terms. 
 
Our mission is to work in cooperation with our audit clients and citizens as an advocate for 
government accountability.  As an elected agency, the State Auditor's Office has the independence 
necessary to objectively perform audits and investigations.  Our audits are designed to comply with 
professional standards as well as to satisfy the requirements of federal, state, and local laws. 
 
The State Auditor's Office employees are located around the state to deliver our services effectively 
and efficiently.   
 
Our audits look at financial information and compliance with state, federal and local laws on the 
part of all local governments, including schools, and all state agencies, including institutions of 
higher education.  In addition, we conduct performance audits of state agencies and local 
governments and fraud, whistleblower and citizen hotline investigations.   
 
The results of our work are widely distributed through a variety of reports, which are available on 
our Web site and through our free, electronic subscription service.  We continue to refine our 
reporting efforts to ensure the results of our audits are useful and understandable.  
 
We take our role as partners in accountability seriously.  We provide training and technical 
assistance to governments and have an extensive quality assurance program. 
 
 
State Auditor Brian Sonntag, CGFM 
Chief of Staff Ted Rutt 
Deputy Chief of Staff Doug Cochran 
Chief Policy Advisor Jerry Pugnetti 
Director of Audit  Chuck Pfeil, CPA 
Director of Special Investigations Jim Brittain, CPA 
Director for Legal Affairs Jan Jutte, CPA, CGFM 
Director of Quality Assurance Ivan Dansereau 
Local Government Liaison Mike Murphy 
Communications Director Mindy Chambers 
Public Records Officer Mary Leider 
Main number (360) 902-0370 
Toll-free Citizen Hotline (866) 902-3900 
 
Web Site www.sao.wa.gov 
Subscription Service                          https://www.sao.wa.gov/EN/News/Subscriptions/ 
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